

People's Democratic Republic of Algeria Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research

Ibn Khaldoun University of Tiaret

Dissertation

Presented to:

FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE DEPARTEMENT OF MATHEMATICS

in order to obtain the degree of :

MASTER

Specialty: Functional analysis and differential equation

Presented by:

Belarbi Zahia Belaidabi Imane

On the theme:

Mönch–Krasnoselski fixed point theorem in Banach spaces and its applications to certain nonlinear problems

Defended publicly on 24 / 06 /2024 in Tiaret in front the jury composed of:

Mr Benali Halim Mr Baghdad Said Mrs Khelifa Hizia

MCA Tiaret UniversityMCA Tiaret UniversityMCB Tiaret University

Chairman Supervisor Examiner

2023-2024

Acknowledgements

All praise be to Allah the lord sovereign of the universe and may Allah praise his Prophet Muhammad and his household and companions.

First of all, we express our highest gratitude to Allah glory be to him for the blessing and compassion through all the days

that we went through to complete our memory. Secondly, we would like to acknowledge and give our warmest thanks to our supervisor Mr.Baghdad Said for his confidence, guidance and advice. Without his guidance, it would be an impossible task for us to complete our research. It is an honor

for us to be supervised by a distinguished professor in mathematics field.

Special thanks are due to our jury members for accepting to be part of the panel of examination and judging the research work to be complete for its defense.

Last but not least, we would also like to thank our beloved families members and our siblings who encouraged us and prayed for us throughout the time of our research.

Dedication

Shis dissertation is sincerely dedicated to my

parents

who have been my source of inspiration, guide and give me strength, when i thought of giving up, who continually

provide their moral, spiritual, emotional, and financial support.

I also dedicate my dissertation to my siblings,

and all my family and friends for their love. support and prayers.

Fahia

Dedication

Shis dissertation is sincerely dedicated to my

parents

who have been my source of inspiration, guide and give me strength, when i thought of giving up, who continually provide their moral, spiritual, emotional and financial support. I also dedicate my dissertation to my brothers, and all my family and friends for their love. support and prayers.

Imane

Abstract

In this memory, we present the Mönch-Krasnoselski fixed point theorem in Banach space which is a generalisation of the classical Krasnoselski fixed point theorem. We also give some applications to classes of nonlinear integral equations in the space of continuous functions using the technique of noncompactness measures. Examples are provided to illustrate the obtained results.

Contents

In	trod	uction		3	
1	Pre	limina	ry notions	6	
	1.1	Topology of normed vector spaces			
		1.1.1	Continuous applications	9	
		1.1.2	Convexity	10	
	1.2	Comp	lete spaces	11	
	1.3	Comp	actness	13	
		1.3.1	Compact metric spaces	14	
		1.3.2	Compact operators on normed spaces	16	
	1.4	Some	fixed point theorems	16	
		1.4.1	Banach fixed point theorem	17	
		1.4.2	Schauder fixed point theorem	17	
		1.4.3	Schaefer's fixed-point theorem	17	
		1.4.4	Krasnoselski fixed-point theorem	17	
2	Mö	nch-Kr	asnoselski fixed point theorem	18	
	2.1	Measu	res of noncompactness and condensing operators	18	
		2.1.1	Notion of a measure of noncompactness	18	
		2.1.2	Condensing operators	20	
		2.1.3	Fixed point theorems	22	
	2.2	Measu	re of noncompactness in spaces of functions	23	
		2.2.1	The Hausdorff MNC in the space $C[a, b]$	23	
		2.2.2	MNC in the space $C([0, +\infty[, \mathbb{R}) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	24	
		2.2.3	MNC in the space $C([a, b], F)$	24	
		2.2.4	MNC in $C^1([a, b], F)$	25	

		2.2.5	MNC in $C^n([a,b],F)$	25
		2.2.6	MNC in $L_p([a,b])$	25
	2.3	Mönch	h-Krasnoselski fixed point theorem	26
3	App	olicatio	ons	29
	3.1	Neutra	al partial integrodifferential equation without compactness	29
		3.1.1	Resolvent operators and measure of noncompactness $\ldots \ldots$	29
		3.1.2	New Mönch–Krasnoselski type fixed point theorems	33
		3.1.3	Existence results	34
	3.2	Exam	ple	42
	3.3	Result	s on neutral partial integrodifferential equations with nonlocal	
		condit	ions	46
		3.3.1	Existence results	47
		3.3.2	Example	53

Introduction

The fixed point theorems are important mathematical tools for demonstrating the existence and uniqueness of solution in various types of equations, they have played a major role in various fields, including functional analysis, dynamics, topology and differential equations.

Fixed point theorems concern maps f of a set X into itself. That under certain conditions admit a fixed point that is, a point $x \in X$ such that f(x) = x see [12].

The fixed point theory is at the heart of nonlinear analysis because it provides the necessary tools for existence theorems in many nonlinear problems. It uses analysis and topology tools for this reason we have the classification "fixed point and topological theory" and "fixed point and metric theory" we will mentions some fixed point theorems like Banach, Schauder, Schaefer and Krasnoselski.

The development of fixed point theory is the most important branch of nonlinear analysis, it has had a profound impact on the progress of nonlinear analysis. In fact, many natural phenomena in chemistry, physics, mechanics, economics and biology exhibit nonlinear behavior. Mathematically, these problems are often expressed as nonlinear differential equations, making nonlinear analysis an ongoing active and relevant field of research. It directly addresses real-world problems and applications.

Nonlinear differential equations and integrodifferential equations, along with general optimization problems are prominent subjects in nonlinear analysis. There are many questions related to the existence and uniqueness of solutions for certain types of equations (differential equations, partial integrodifferential equations) can be reduced to the existence and uniqueness of a fixed point for an appropriate mapping defined on a Banach space. One of the most significant existence tools in nonlinear analysis is Krasnoselski theorem established in 1955 by Krasnoselski. His result is captivating and possesses a very wide range of applications see [14].

In this memory, we study the Mönch-Krasnoselski fixed point theorem and some of their applications (to neutral partial integrodifferential equations) see [19],[21], and it is composed of three chapters.

In the first chapter, we introduce the notations, definitions, lemmas, and theorems that will be used throughout this memory.

In the second chapter, we introduce the measures of noncompactness and condensing operators and we state and prove the Mönch and Mönch-Krasnoselski theorems.

In the third chapter, we study the existence of mild solution for two types of neutral partial integrodifferential equations by applying the Mönch-Krasnoselski fixed point theorem. This analysis will be based on the Mönch-Krasnoselski fixed point theorem in Banach spaces.

Main notations used

- Ω : An open bounded of \mathbb{R}^n .
- $\|\cdot\|$: A norm on a vector space.
- \overline{A} : denote the adherence of A.
- (E, d): A metric space.
- $\bullet~\mathbb{K}:$ real or complex numbers.
- := : Equality by definition.

•
$$\|\cdot\|_2$$
: The norm in space $L^2(\Omega)$ defined by: $\|x\|_2 = \left(\int_{\Omega} |x|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

- ∇u : Gradient operator $\nabla u = \left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1}, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_2}, \dots, \frac{\partial u}{\partial x_n}\right).$
- $(F, \|\cdot\|)$: A normed vector space (a Banach space).
- M_F : denote the bounded subsets of F.
- MNC_s : denote the Measures of Noncompactness.
- $\overline{co}(\Omega)$: closed convex hull of Ω .
- $C_0(\mathbb{N})$: The set of all suites.
- $C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$: The set of all continuous functions.
- B(a, r): The open ball.
- $B_c(a, r)$: The closed ball.
- Å: The interior of subset A.
- \mathcal{L} : The space of linear operator.

l Chapter

Preliminary notions

1.1 Topology of normed vector spaces

Definition 1.1.1. [2] Let F be a vector space on K a norm on F is an application $\|\cdot\|: E \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ verifying the following properties :

- 1. $||x|| = 0 \Leftrightarrow x = 0;$
- 2. $||x + y|| \le ||x|| + ||y||$ for all $x, y \in F$;
- 3. $\|\lambda x\| = |\lambda| \|x\|$ for all $x \in F$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{K}$.

A normed vector space $(F, \|\cdot\|)$ is a vector space F provided with a norm $\|\cdot\|$.

Remark 1.1.1. A normed vector space is a metric space. The distance between two vectors is defined by the norm:

$$d(x,y) = \parallel x - y \parallel.$$

Proposition 1.1.1. [2] If $\|\cdot\|$ is a norm on a vector space F then we define on $F, d(a, b) = \|b - a\|$ with d is the distance associated with the norm $\|\cdot\|$ which verifies the two additional properties :

1. It is invariant by translation:

$$|| b + p - a - p || = || b - a || \quad \forall p \in F.$$
(1.1)

2. It is homogeneous:

$$\|\lambda b - \lambda a\| = |\lambda| \|b - a\|.$$
(1.2)

Example 1.1.1. [1] The set of real numbers equipped with the distance d(x, y) = |x-y| is a metric space.

Example 1.1.2. [2]

- 1. The absolute value is a norm on \mathbb{R} .
- 2. The module is a norm on \mathbb{C} .
- 3. If $p \in [1, +\infty[$ we define a norm $\| . \|_p$ on \mathbb{K}^d :

$$\|x\|_{p} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{d} |x_{i}|^{p}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
(1.3)

4. If p = 2 the norm $\| \cdot \|_2$ on \mathbb{R}^d is the euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^d defined by:

$$\|x\|_{2} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{d} |x_{i}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(1.4)

5. The norm $\| . \|_{\infty}$ on \mathbb{K}^d is defined by:

$$\|x\|_{\infty} = \max\{|x_i|; 1 \le i \le n\}.$$
(1.5)

Definition 1.1.2. [2] • Let $a \in F$, and let $r \ge 0$: The open ball with center a and radius r is the set:

$$B(a,r) := \{ x \in F; \| x - a \| < r \}.$$
(1.6)

• The closed ball with center a and radius r is the set :

$$B_c(a,r) := \{ x \in F; \| x - a \| \le r \}.$$
(1.7)

Examples 1.1.1. [2]

- (1) In \mathbb{R} , the open ball B(a, r) is the interval :]a r; a + r[; the closed ball is the interval : [a r; a + r].
- (2) In $\mathbb{C} = \mathbb{R}^2$ with the usual distance, the balls are disks.
- (3) In \mathbb{R}^2 with the norm $\| \cdot \|_{\infty}$, the balls are squares to the axes of contact details.

Definition 1.1.3. A neighborhood of $a \in F$ is any subset $V \subset F$ such that there exists an r > 0 such that $B(a, r) \subset V$.

Definition 1.1.4. A subset $U \subset F$ is an open set of F if it is a neighborhood of each of its points, i.e.

$$\forall a \in U, \exists r > 0; B(a, r) \subset U.$$
(1.8)

Remark 1.1.2. \emptyset and F are always open sets of F.

Proposition 1.1.2. Let $(F, \|\cdot\|)$ be a normed \mathbb{K} -vector space.

- 1. For all $x \in F$, the singleton $\{x\}$ is a closed set.
- 2. A finite subset of F (finite union of singletons) is a closed set of F.
- 3. Closed balls in F are closed sets of F.
- 4. Spheres are closed sets of F.

Definition 1.1.5. [1] For a subset A of F, the adherence of A, denoted by \overline{A} , is the set of all adherent points of A.

Examples 1.1.2. [2]

- (1) In \mathbb{R} , the closure of an interval is the corresponding closed interval.
- (2) In $(\mathbb{R}^2, \| \cdot \|_{\infty})$, the closure of the half-plane $\{(x, y); x > 0\}$ is the half-plane $\{(x, y); x \ge 0\}$.

Definition 1.1.6. [1] Let A be a subset of F. A point x of A is called an interior point of A if A is a neighborhood of x in F, $A \in V(x)$.

The interior of a subset A of F, denoted by A, is the set of all interior points of A.

Definition 1.1.7. A subset A of a normed vector space F is said to be dense in F if $\overline{A} = F$.

Example 1.1.3. [2] A part A of normed vector space $(F, \| . \|)$ is said to be bounded if there exists a constant $c < \infty$ such that $\| x \| \le c$ for all $x \in A$, a function $f : F \longrightarrow F$ is said to be bounded if its image is a bounded part of F.

If L is an arbitrary set, we denote by $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(L, \mathbb{K})$ the vector space consisting of all bounded functions $f: L \to \mathbb{K}$. We define a norm on $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(L, \mathbb{K})$ by setting

$$|| f ||_{\infty} = \sup\{|f(t)|; t \in L\}.$$

If F is a norm vector space, we note $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(L, F)$ the vector space constituted by all bounded function $f: L \longrightarrow F$. The natural norm on the space $\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(L, F)$ is the norm $\| \cdot \|_{\infty}$ defined by:

$$\| f \|_{\infty} = \sup\{ \| f(t) \|; t \in L \}.$$
(1.9)

1.1.1 Continuous applications

Definition 1.1.8. [4] Suppose that (E,d) and (Y,ϕ) are two metric spaces. A function $f: E \to Y$ is continuous at $x \in E$ if for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there is $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\parallel f(x) - f(x_0) \parallel < \varepsilon \text{ provided that } \parallel x - x_0 \parallel < \delta.$$

The function f is said to be continuous if f is continuous at all points $x \in E$.

Remark 1.1.3. [1] Let (E,d) and (E',d') be two metric spaces. The global continuity of a function $f: E \longrightarrow E'$ is written precisely:

$$\forall x \in E , \exists \alpha_{x,\varepsilon} > 0, \ \forall y \in E, \ \| \ y - x \| \le \alpha_{x,\varepsilon} \Rightarrow \| \ f(y) - f(x) \| \le \varepsilon.$$

Definition 1.1.9. [1] We say that $f \in C(E, E')$ is uniformly continuous if it verifies:

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \alpha_{\varepsilon} > 0, \forall x, y \in E, \parallel x - y \parallel \leq \alpha_{\varepsilon} \Rightarrow \parallel f(x) - f(y) \parallel \leq \varepsilon$$

Definition 1.1.10. [12] Let E be a metric space equipped with a distance d. A map $f: E \to E$ is said to be Lipschitz continuous if there is $k \ge 0$ such that:

$$d(f(x_1), f(x_2)) \le kd(x_1, x_2), \quad \forall x_1, x_2 \in E.$$

The smallest k for which the above inequality holds is the Lipschitz constant of f. If k < 1 f is said to be a contraction.

Proposition 1.1.3. [1] (f Lipschitzian) \Rightarrow (f uniformly continuous) \Rightarrow (f is continuous).

Example 1.1.4. [1] On a metric space (E, d). For any $x_0 \in E$ the function $d(x_0, \cdot)$: $x \in E \to d(x_0, x) \in \mathbb{R}$ is Lipschitzian of ratio 1 since:

$$\forall x, y \in E, | d(x_0, y) - d(x_0, x) | \le d(x, y).$$

Example 1.1.5. [2] On $E = K^d$ provided with the norm $\| \cdot \|_{\infty}$, coordinated applications are continuous.

Theorem 1.1.1. [5] An application $g: E \to E'$ is continuous if and only if the inverse image of any open set (resp. closed) is open (resp. closed).

Corollary 1.1.1. [5] if $g : E \longrightarrow E'$ is continuous, then we have $g(\overline{B}) \subset \overline{g(B)}$ for any $B \subset E$.

Theorem 1.1.2. [5] The composition of continuous applications is continuous. In other words, if $g : E \longrightarrow E'$ and $h : E' \rightarrow Z$ are continuous, then $g \circ h : E \rightarrow Z$ is also continuous.

Example 1.1.6. $C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$ with $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ is the space of all continuous y functions define of [a, b] in \mathbb{R}^n . the number $|| y ||_{\infty} = \sup_{t \in [a, b]} || y(t) ||$ define a norm and $(C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^n), || \cdot ||_{\infty})$ a Banach space.

1.1.2 Convexity

Definition 1.1.11. [6] A subset C of \mathbb{R}^n is called convex if:

$$\alpha x + (1 - \alpha)y \in C, \quad \forall x, y \in C, \forall \alpha \in [0, 1].$$

Proposition 1.1.4. [6]

- (a) The intersection $\bigcap_{i \in I} C_i$ of any collection $\{C_i \mid i \in I\}$ of convex sets is convex.
- (b) The vector sum $C_1 + C_2$ of two convex sets C_1 and C_2 is convex.
- (c) The set λC is convex for any convex set C and scalar λ . Furthermore, if C is a convex set and λ_1, λ_2 are positive scalars,

$$(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)C = \lambda_1 C + \lambda_2 C. \tag{1.10}$$

- (d) The closure and the interior of a convex set are convex.
- (e) The image and the inverse image of a convex set under an affine function are convex.

Definition 1.1.12. [6] Let C be a convex subset of \mathbb{R}^n . We say that a function $f: C \to \mathbb{R}$ is convex if:

$$f(\alpha x + (1 - \alpha)y) \le \alpha f(x) + (1 - \alpha)f(y), \quad \forall x, y \in C, \quad \forall \alpha \in [0, 1].$$
(1.11)

Definition 1.1.13. Let F be a \mathbb{R} -vector space and A be a subset of F. The convex hull of A is defined by:

$$conv(A) = \{x \in A, x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i x_i; \lambda_i \in [0, 1], \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i = 1\}.$$
 (1.12)

1.2 Complete spaces

Definition 1.2.1. [1] A sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of a metric space (E,d) is called a Cauchy sequence if it satisfies :

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists N_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}, \forall m, n \ge N_{\varepsilon}, d(x_m, x_n) \le \varepsilon.$$
(1.13)

Definition 1.2.2. [3] Let F be a normed vector space. A sequence $(U_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is bounded if $|| u_n || \leq M$ for some $M \geq 0$ and all n.

Definition 1.2.3. [2] Given a metric space (E,d), a sequence $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of points in E converges to a point $a \in E$ if the distance $d(x_n, a)$ tends to 0 as n tends to infinity. In other words, $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges to a if and only if the following property holds:

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \ \exists N \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall n \ge N, \ d(x_n, a) < \varepsilon.$$
(1.14)

Remark 1.2.1. [2] In a normed vector space, every convergent sequence is bounded. The converse is false.

Example 1.2.1. [2] If we endow \mathbb{K}^m with the norm $\| \cdot \|_{\infty}$ then a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathbb{K}^m$ converges in \mathbb{K}^m if and only if it converges "coordinate by coordinate".

Example 1.2.2. [2] Let $C^1([0,1])$ be the set of $f:[0,1] \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ functions of class C^1 . We define a norm $\|\cdot\|_{C^1}$ on $C^1([0,1])$ by setting

$$\| f \|_{C^1} = \| f \|_{\infty} + \| f' \|_{\infty} .$$
(1.15)

Then, a sequence $(f_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subseteq C^1([0,1])$ converges to a function $f \in C^1([0,1])$ in the sense of the norm $\| \cdot \|_{C^1}$ if and only if $(f_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges uniformly to f and (f'_n) converges uniformly to f'.

Proposition 1.2.1. [1] A Cauchy sequence is always bounded.

Proposition 1.2.2. [1] Every Cauchy sequence admitting a convergent sub-sequence converge.

Definition 1.2.4. [1] The metric space (E, d) is said to be complete if every Cauchy sequence in (E, d) converges.

Definition 1.2.5. A Banach space is a normed vector space that is complete.

Remark 1.2.2. [2] Let F be a vector space. If $\| \cdot \|_1$ and $\| \cdot \|_2$ are two equivalent norms on F, then $\| \cdot \|_1$ and $\| \cdot \|_2$ have the same Cauchy sequences. Therefore, F is complete for $\| \cdot \|_1$ if and only if it is for $\| \cdot \|_2$.

Remark 1.2.3. [2] If d_1 and d_2 are two equivalent distances on the same set E, then E can be complete for d_1 without being complete for d_2 .

Examples 1.2.1. [2]

- (1) \mathbb{R} is complete.
- (2) \mathbb{Q} is not complete.
- (3) Every finite-dimensional normed vector space is complete.

Proposition 1.2.3. [2]

Let (E,d) be a metric space, and let A be a subset of E.

- (1) If A is complete for d, then A is closed in E.
- (2) If (E,d) is assumed complete, then A is complete for d if and only if A is a closed subset of E.

Corollary 1.2.1. [2] If [a, b] is a closed bounded interval, then the space $(C([a, b]), \| . \|_{\infty})$ is complete. More generally, if E is a metric space, F a Banach space, and if we denote $C_b(E, F)$ the set of all continuous, bounded functions $f : E \longrightarrow F$, then $C_b(E, F)$ is complete for the norm $\| . \|_{\infty}$.

Corollary 1.2.2. [2] The space $(C_0(\mathbb{N}), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ is a Banach space.

Corollary 1.2.3. [2] If F is a normed vector space, then every finite-dimensional subspace of F is closed in F.

Theorem 1.2.1. [2] If F is a Banach space, then every absolutely convergent series with terms in F converges in F.

Proposition 1.2.4. [2] Let F be a normed vector space. If every absolutely convergent series with terms in F converges, then F is complete.

Some properties of complete spaces :

Proposition 1.2.5. [1] In a complete metric space (E, d), the complete subspace are the closed ones.

Corollary 1.2.4. [1] Let (E, d) be a metric space. Any intersection of complete subspace is complete.

Proposition 1.2.6. [1] Let (E, d) be a metric space. Any finite union of complete subspace of (E, d) is complete.

Proposition 1.2.7. [1] A finite or countable product of complete metric spaces is complete.

Theorem 1.2.2. [2] Let (E,d) be a complete metric space, and let $(O_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of open E. In particular, we have $\bigcap_n O_n \neq \emptyset$.

Corollary 1.2.5. [2] If (E, d) is a complete metric space, then any closed space of E is a space of Baire, and all open from E as well.

Corollary 1.2.6. [2] Let (E, d) be a complete metric space. If $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of closed of E such as $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} F_n = E$ then $\Omega := \bigcup_n \mathring{F_n}$ is a dense open in E.

1.3 Compactness

Definition 1.3.1. [7] Let $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$ be a family of subsets of the space X and $B \subseteq X$. We say that the family $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$ is a cover of B (or that the family $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$ covers B) if and only if $B \subseteq \bigcup_{\alpha \in \Lambda} A_{\alpha}$. If Λ is finite and $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$ covers B, then $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$ is called an open cover(closed cover) of B.

Definition 1.3.2. [7] Let $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$ be a cover of a subset B of a space X. Let $\Omega \subseteq \Lambda$. Then the family $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Omega\}$ is called a sub-cover of the cover $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Lambda\}$ for B if and only if $\{A_{\alpha} : \alpha \in \Omega\}$ is a cover of B.

Definition 1.3.3. [7] A topological space X is called compact if and only if any open cover for X has a finite sub-cover for X. A subset B of a space X is compact if and only if B is a compact topological space with the subspace topology.

Example 1.3.1. [7] Let X be any infinite set. Then (X, C), the infinite topology, is compact.

Definition 1.3.4. [1] A topological space (X, \mathcal{T}) is said to be compact if it is separated and if every open covering admits a finite sub-covering:

$$\left(X = \bigcup_{i \in I} O_i\right) \Rightarrow \left(\exists J \subset I, J finite, X = \bigcup_{i \in J} O_i\right).$$
(1.16)

Theorem 1.3.1. [8] For any $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ with a < b, the interval [a, b] is compact.

Proposition 1.3.1. [1] Every metric space that is compact is also complete.

Lemma 1.3.1. [8] Every closed subspace of a compact space is compact.

Lemma 1.3.2. [8] Every compact subspace of a Hausdorff space is closed.

Theorem 1.3.2. [8] Let X and Y be compact topological spaces. Then $X \times Y$ is also compact.

Theorem 1.3.3. [8] A subspace of \mathbb{R}^n is compact if and only if it is closed and bounded.

Corollary 1.3.1. [8] Every quotient of a compact space is compact.

1.3.1 Compact metric spaces

Definition 1.3.5. [2] Let (E, d) be a metric space.

- (1) A point $x \in E$ is said to be an adhesion value of a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq E$ if there exists a sub-sequence of $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ that converges to x.
- (2) The metric space E is said to be compact if any sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq E$ has at least one value adhesion in E.
- (3) A set $A \subseteq E$ is said to be a compact of E if the metric space (A, d) is compact.

Example 1.3.2. [2] Every closed bounded interval $[a, b] \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ is compact: this is the Bolzano-Weierstrass theorem.

Remark 1.3.1. [2] Let E be a metric space.

- (1) Every compact set $A \subseteq E$ is closed.
- (2) If E is compact, then every closed subset of E is compact.
- (3) If E is a normed vector space, then every compact subset of E is closed and bounded.

Remark 1.3.2. In a finite-dimensional normed vector space, compact sets are exactly the closed bounded sets.

Remark 1.3.3. [2] Let (E, d) be a compact metric space, and let $a \in E$. If a is the only value of possible adhesion of a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq E$, then $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to a.

Remark 1.3.4. [2] Any finite union of compact sets is compact. In particular, any finite set is compact.

Definition 1.3.6. [2] Let (E, d) be a metric space. It is said that a set $A \subseteq E$ is relatively compact in E if \overline{A} is a compact of E.

Remark 1.3.5. [2] Let (E, d) be a metric space. A set $A \subseteq E$ is relatively compact in E if and only if any sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq A$ has at least one adhesion value in E.

Corollary 1.3.2. [2] Let (E, d) be a metric space. If $(K_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a decreasing sequence of non-empty compact sets in E, then $\bigcap_n K_n \neq \emptyset$.

Remark 1.3.6. [2] Let (E, d) be a metric space. If every decreasing sequence of non-empty closed sets in E has a non-empty intersection, then E is compact.

Proposition 1.3.2. [8]

- A sequentially compact metric space is totally bounded.
- A sequentially compact metric space is compact.
- A sequentially compact metric space is complete.

Continuous functions on a compact

Theorem 1.3.4. [2] Let C be a compact metric space, and let E be a metric space. If $f: C \longrightarrow E$ is continuous, then f(C) is a compact subset of E.

Example 1.3.3. [2] Let C and E be two metric spaces, with E compact. If $f : C \longrightarrow E$ is a continuous bijection, then $f^{-1} : E \longrightarrow C$ is continuous.

Theorem 1.3.5. [2] If E is a compact metric space, then every continuous function $f: E \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is bounded and attains its bounds.

Theorem 1.3.6. [2] Let C and E be two metric spaces. If C is compact, then every continuous function $f : C \longrightarrow E$ is uniformly continuous.

Corollary 1.3.3. [2] Let F be a finite-dimensional normed vector space. If $f : F \to \mathbb{R}$ is a continuous function satisfying $\lim_{\|x\|\to\infty} f(x) = +\infty$, then f is bounded below and attains its lower bound.

1.3.2 Compact operators on normed spaces

Definition 1.3.7. [9] Let X and Y be normed spaces. An operator $T : X \longrightarrow Y$ is called a compact linear operator if T is linear and if for every bounded subset M of X, the image T(M) is relatively compact, that is, the closure $\overline{T(M)}$ is compact.

Lemma 1.3.3. [9] Let X and Y be normed spaces. Then:

- (a) Every compact linear operator $T: X \longrightarrow Y$ is bounded, hence continuous.
- (b)) If dim $X = \infty$, the identity operator $I : X \longrightarrow X$ (which is continuous) is not compact.

Theorem 1.3.7. [2] Let $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$. Then T is compact if and only if T^* is compact.

Proposition 1.3.3. [2] If $T \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ is compact, then T maps weakly convergent sequences to strongly convergent sequences. The converse is true if X is a Hilbert space.

Proposition 1.3.4. [2] Let $S \in \mathcal{L}(X, Y)$ and $T \in \mathcal{L}(Y, Z)$. If S or T is compact, then TS is also compact.

Theorem 1.3.8. [23](Ascoli-Arzela Theorem) Let $A \subset C([0, b], \mathbb{R}^n)$. A is relatively compact if:

1. A is bounded, i.e. there exists M > 0:

$$\parallel y(t) \parallel \leq M, \quad \forall t \in [0,b] \quad and \quad y \in A,$$

2. A is equicontinuous, i.e. for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta(\varepsilon) > 0$

$$\forall t_1, t_2 \in [0, b], |t_1 - t_2| < \delta \Rightarrow \parallel y(t_1) - y(t_2) \parallel < \varepsilon, \quad \forall y \in A.$$

Example 1.3.4. [2] Every finite-rank operator is compact.

1.4 Some fixed point theorems

Definition 1.4.1. Let (E, d) be complete metric space and let a map $T : E \longrightarrow E$, we say that $x \in E$ is a fixed point of T if T(x) = x.

1.4.1 Banach fixed point theorem

Definition 1.4.2. [11] A mapping T from a metric space E into itself is said to be a contraction if: $d(T(x), T(y)) \leq Kd(x, y)$, for all x, y in E and $0 \leq K < 1$.

A contraction mapping is continuous but not conversely.

Theorem 1.4.1. [12] Let T be a contraction on a complete metric space E. Then T has a unique fixed point $x \in E$.

1.4.2 Schauder fixed point theorem

Theorem 1.4.2. [13] Let C be a closed and convex subset in a Banach space F, and let $T : C \longrightarrow C$ be a continuous mapping such that T(C) is relatively compact. Then T has a fixed point.

1.4.3 Schaefer's fixed-point theorem

Theorem 1.4.3. [13] Assume that $(F, \| . \|)$ is a Banach space and that $T : F \longrightarrow F$ is a continuous compact mapping. Moreover assume that the set:

$$\bigcup_{0 \le \lambda \le 1} \{ x \in F : x = \lambda T(x) \}$$

is bounded. Then T has a fixed point.

1.4.4 Krasnoselski fixed-point theorem

In 1955, Krasnoselski observed that in a large number of problems, the integration of a differential operator gives rise to a sum of two applications, a contraction and a compact application. He then declares:

Principle: The integral of a differential operator can produce a sum of two applications, a contraction, and a compact operator.

Theorem 1.4.4. [14] Let M be a non-empty closed convex subset of a Banach space $(F, \| . \|)$. Suppose that A and B map M into F such that:

- $Ax + By \in M \quad (\forall x, y \in M),$
- A is continuous and AM is contained in a compact set,
- B is a contraction with constant k < 1.

Then there is a $y \in M$ with Ay + By = y.

Chapter

Mönch-Krasnoselski fixed point theorem

2.1 Measures of noncompactness and condensing operators

In this section we consider the notions connected with measures of noncompactness (MNCs for brivity) and condensing operators.

2.1.1 Notion of a measure of noncompactness

Definition 2.1.1. [15] A function φ , defined on the set of all subsets of a Banach space F with values in some partially ordered set (Q, \leq) , is called a measure of noncompactness if

$$\varphi(\overline{co}\Omega) = \varphi(\Omega) \text{ for all } \Omega \subset F.$$
(2.1)

Definition 2.1.2. [15] Let $(E, \|.\|)$ be a complete metric space. A map

$$\varphi: M_F \longrightarrow [0, +\infty[$$

is called a measure of noncompactness (MNC) defined on E if it satisfies the following properties:

- (a) Regularity : $\varphi(B) = 0 \Leftrightarrow B$ is a precompact set.
- (b) Invariant under closure : $\varphi(B) = \varphi(B), \forall B \in M$.
- (c) Semi-additivity : $\varphi(B_1UB_2) = max\{\varphi(B_1), \varphi(B_2)\}, \forall B_1 \in M, \forall B_2 \in M.$

From these axioms, we can immediately deduce the following properties:

- (1) Monotonicity : $B_1 \subset M \Rightarrow \varphi(B_1) \leq \varphi(B)$.
- (2) $\varphi(B_1 \cap B_2) \leq \min\{\varphi(B_1), \varphi(B_2)\}, \forall B_1 \in M, \forall B_2 \in M.$
- (3) Non-singularity : If B is a finite set, then $\varphi(B) = O$.
- (4) Generalized Cantor's intersection theorem : If {B_n} is a decreasing sequence of nonempty, closed and bounded subsets of E and lim_{n→+∞} φ(B_n) = 0, then the intersection B_∞ of all B_n is nonempty and compact.
- If E is a Banach space, the measure of noncompactness φ can enjoy some additional properties. Let us list some of them :
- (5) Semi-homogeneity: $\varphi(tB) = |t| \varphi(B)$ for any number t and $B \in M$.
- (6) Algebraic semi-additive : $\varphi(B_1 + B_2) \leq \varphi(B_1) + \varphi(B_2), \forall B_1 \in M, \forall B_2 \in M.$
- (7) In variance under translations : $\varphi(x_0 + B) = \varphi(B)$ for any $x_0 \in E$ and $B \in M$.
- (8) Lipschitzianity : $|\varphi(B_1) \varphi(B_2)| \le L_{\varphi}\rho(B_1, B_2)$, where ρ denotes the Hausdorff semi-metric $\rho(B_1, B_2) = \inf\{\varepsilon > 0 : B_2 \subset B_1 + \varepsilon B(O, 1), B_1 \subset B_2 + \varepsilon \overline{B}(O, 1)\}$.
- (9) Continuity : For every $B \in M$ and for all $\varepsilon > 0$, there is $\delta > 0$ such that
- $|\varphi(B) \varphi(B_1)| < \varepsilon$ for all B_1 satisfying $\rho(B, B_1) < \delta$.
- (10) Invariance under passage to the convex hull : $\varphi(co(B)) = \varphi(B)$ for all $B \in M$.

The Kuratowski and Hausdorff measures of noncompactness

Definition 2.1.3. [15] The kuratowski measure of noncompactness is a mapping $\alpha(\Omega): M_F \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$ defined by:

 $\alpha(\Omega) = \inf\{\varepsilon > 0; \Omega \text{ admets a finits covering by sets of diameter smaller then } \varepsilon\}.$

The diameter of a set A means the number:

$$diam(A) = sup\{ || x - y || : x, y \in A \}.$$

In other words:

$$\alpha(\Omega) = \inf\{\varepsilon > 0; \exists k \in \mathbb{N}, \Omega = \bigcup_{i=1}^{k} O_i, \dim(O_i) < \varepsilon, \text{ for all } i = 1....k\}.$$

Definition 2.1.4. [15] The Hausdorff measure of noncompactness is an application $\chi(\Omega): M_F \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}_+$ defined by :

$$\chi(\Omega) = \inf\{\varepsilon > 0, \Omega \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} B(x_i, r_i), x_i \in F, r_i \in \mathbb{R}^+, \text{for all } i = 1....n\}.$$

In other words:

$$\chi(\Omega) = \inf\{\varepsilon > 0, \Omega \text{ has a finite } \varepsilon - net \in F\}.$$

Remark 2.1.1. The kuratowski and Hausdorff MNC_s its satisfy all the above properties of 2.1.2.

Remark 2.1.2. [15] Based on the above definition

$$diam(O_i) < \varepsilon \Rightarrow diam(O_i) \ge \alpha(\Omega), for all \ \Omega \in M_F.$$

Which implies that $diam(\Omega)$ is a condidate to be $\alpha(\Omega)$.

Definition 2.1.5. [17] The Kuratowski and Hausdorff MNCs are invariant under passage to the convex hull: $\phi(M) = \phi(co(M))$.

Theorem 2.1.1. [17] The Kuratowski and Hausdorff MNCs are related by the inequalities

$$\chi(M) \le \alpha(M) \le 2\chi(M).$$

In the class of all infinite dimensional Banach spaces these inequalities are the best possible.

Theorem 2.1.2. [15] Let B be the unit ball in E. Then $\alpha(B) = \chi(B) = 0$ if E is finite-dimensional, and $\alpha(B) = 2, \chi(B) = 1$ in the opposite case.

Remark 2.1.3. [17] Though in general α and χ are different MNCs, in some Banach spaces we can find a direct relation between them.

2.1.2 Condensing operators

In this section we introduce the condensing operators and study some properties.

Definition 2.1.6. [15] Let F_1 and F_2 be Banach spaces and let φ and ψ be MNCs in F_1 and F_2 . A continuous operator $f : D(f) \subset F_1 \longrightarrow F_2$ is said to be (φ, ψ) – condensing if $\Omega \subset D(f)$, $\psi[f(\Omega)] \ge \varphi(\Omega) \Rightarrow \Omega$ is relatively compact. The operator f is said to be (φ, ψ) - condensing in the proper sense if $\psi[f(\Omega)] < \varphi(\Omega)$ for any set $\Omega \subset D(f)$ with compact closure. If the set Q is linearly ordered, then the two notions of condensing operator coincide. A continuous operator f is said to be (q, φ, ψ) - bounded if

$$\psi[f(\Omega)] \le q\varphi(\Omega)$$

for any set $\Omega \subset D(f)$. Whenever $F_1 = F_2$ and $\varphi = \psi$ we shall simply say ψ – condensing and (q, ψ) – boundell. In the case q < 1, (q, ψ) – bounded operators are sometimes referred to as ψ – condensing with constant q.

Proposition 2.1.1. [15]

- (a) If the MNC φ_1 is regular, then any $(q, \varphi_1, \varphi_2)$ -bounded operator with q < 1 is (φ_1, φ_2) -condensing.
- (b) If f₁ is a (φ₁, φ₂)-condensing operator and f₂ is a (φ₂, φ₃)-condensing operator that maps totally bounded sets into totally bounded ones, φ₁ and φ₃ are regular MNCs, and Q = [0,∞), then the composition f₂ ∘ f₁ is a (φ₁, φ₃)-condensing operator.
- (c) If $Q = [0, \infty)$ and φ_2 is semi-additive, then the set of all (φ_1, φ_3) -condensing operators is convex.

Example 2.1.1. [15] Suppose the operators $g_0, g_1 : X \subset F_1 \longrightarrow F_2$ are (γ, β) -condensing, the set where the MNCs γ and β take their values is linearly ordered (as a consequence of which f_0 and f_1 are (γ, β) -condensing in the proper sense), and γ is semi-additive. Then the family of operators $g = \{g_\lambda : \lambda \in [0, 1]\}$, where $g_\lambda(x) = (1 - \lambda)g_0(x) + \lambda g_1(x)$, is (γ, β) -condensing.

Corollary 2.1.1. [15]

- (a) If the set M is bounded and q < 1, then the family f is χ -condensing.
- (b) The sum f + g of a compact operator $f : F_1 \longrightarrow F_2$ and a contractive operator $g : F_1 \longrightarrow F_2$ is a χ -condensing operator on any bounded set $M \subset F_1$.

Definition 2.1.7. [17] If E and Y are metric spaces, ϕ and A measures of noncompactness defined on E and Y respectively, and $T: D \subset E \longrightarrow Y$ a mapping, then

(a) T is a (ϕ, λ) -contractive operator with constant k > 0 (or simply $k-(\phi, \lambda)$ -contractive) if T is continuous and verifies that for every bounded subset A of D we have $\lambda(T(A)) \le k\phi - (A)$. In the particular case when E = Y and $\lambda = \phi$ we simply say that T is a $(k - \phi)$ -contractive operator. (b) T is a (φ, λ)-condensing operator with constant k > 0 (or simply k-(φ, λ)-condensing) if T is continuous and verifies that for every bounded and non precompact subset A of D we have λ(T(A)) < kφ(A). In the particular case when E = Y and λ = φ we simply say that T is a (k-φ)-condensing operator. Moreover, if k = 1 we say that T is a φ-condensing operator.

Remark 2.1.4. [17]

- (a) If $\phi = \alpha$, the $k \alpha$ -contractive (or $(k \alpha)$ -condensing) operators are usually called k-set-contractive (or k-set-condensing) operators.
- (b) If $\phi = \chi$, the $(k \chi)$ -contractive (or $(k \chi)$ -condensing) operators are usually called k-ball-contractive (or k-ball-condensing) operators.
- (c) Every compact operator is $k (\phi, \lambda)$ -contractive and $k (\phi, \lambda)$ -condensing for all k > 0.
- (d) Every $k (\phi, \lambda)$ -condensing operator is $k (\phi, \lambda)$ -contractive.

2.1.3 Fixed point theorems

Theorem 2.1.3. [18](Mönch) Let D be a bounded, closed and convex subset of a Banach space such that $0 \in D$, and let G be a continuous mapping of D into itself. If the implication

$$V = convG(V) \text{ or } V = G(V) \cup \{0\} \Rightarrow \alpha(V) = 0$$

$$(2.2)$$

holds for every subset V of D, then G has a fixed point.

Proof. We define a sequence (y_n) by

$$\begin{cases} y_{n+1} = G(y_n) \ (n = 0, 1, 2, ...) \\ y_0 = 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

Let $Y = \{y_n : n = 0, 1, 2, ...\}$. As $Y = G(Y) \cup \{0\}$, from 2.3 it follows that Y is relatively compact in D. Denote by Z the set of all limit points of (y_n) . It can be easily verified that Z = G(Z). Let us put

$$R(X) = convG(X) \ for \ X \subset D,$$

and let Ω denote the family of all subsets X of D such that $Z \subset X$ and $R(X) \subset X$. Clearly $D \in \Omega$. Denote by V the intersection of all sets of the family Ω . As $Z \subset V$, V is nonempty and

$$Z = G(Z) \subset R(Z) \subset R(V).$$

Since

$$R(V) \subset R(X) \subset X$$
 for all $X \in \Omega, R(V) \subset V$ and therefore $V \subset \Omega$.

Moreover,

$$R(R(V)) \subset R(V)$$
, and hence $R(V) \in \Omega$.

Consequently

$$V = R(V)$$
 i.e. $V = convG(V)$.

In view of 2.3, this implies that \overline{V} is a compact subset of D. Applying now the Schauder fixed point theorem to the mapping $G \mid \overline{V}$. We conclude that G has a fixed point.

Theorem 2.1.4. (Darbo)[16] Let C be a nonempty, bounded closed and convex subset of a Banach space F and let $T : C \longrightarrow C$ be a continuous mapping. Assume that there exists a constant $K \in [0, 1)$ for any nonempty subset S of C such that:

$$\alpha(TS) \le K\alpha(S).$$

Where α denotes the Kuratowski measure of noncompactness defined in F. Then T has a fixed point in the set C.

2.2 Measure of noncompactness in spaces of functions

2.2.1 The Hausdorff MNC in the space C[a, b]

In the space C[a, b] of continuous real-valued functions on the segment [a, b] the value of the set-function χ on a bounded set Ω can be computed by means of the formula [15]

$$\chi(\Omega) = \frac{1}{2} \lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup_{x \in \Omega} \max_{0 \le \tau \le \delta} \| x - x_{\tau} \|$$
(2.4)

where x_{τ} denotes the τ -translate of the function x:

$$x_{\tau}(t) = \begin{cases} x(t+\tau), \ if \ a \le t \le b - \tau, \\ x(b), \quad if \ b - \tau \le t \le b. \end{cases}$$
(2.5)

2.2.2 MNC in the space $C([0, +\infty[, \mathbb{R})$

We will use a measure of noncompactness in the space $C([0, +\infty[, \mathbb{R}) [20])$. In order to define this measure let us fix a nonempty bounded subset X of the space $C([0, +\infty[, \mathbb{R})$ and a positive number T. For $x \in X$ and $\varepsilon \geq 0$ denote by $\omega^T(x, \varepsilon)$ the modulus of the function x on the interval [0, T], i.e.

$$\omega^{T}(x,\varepsilon) = \sup\{|x(t) - x(s)| : t, s \in [0,T], |t - s| \le 0\}.$$

Further, let us put

$$\omega^{T}(X,\varepsilon) = \sup\{\omega^{T}(x,\varepsilon) : x \in X\},\$$
$$\omega_{0}^{T}(X) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \omega^{T}(X,\varepsilon), \ \omega_{0}(X) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \omega_{0}^{T}(X)$$

If t is a fixed number of \mathbb{R}_+ , let us denote $X(t) = \{x(t) : x \in X\}$ and

$$diamX(t) = \sup\{|x(t) - y(t)| : x, y \in X\}.$$

Finally, consider the function μ is a measure of non compactness in the space $C([0, +\infty], \mathbb{R})$ defined on the family $M_{C([0, +\infty], \mathbb{R})}$ by the formula

$$\mu(X) = \omega_0(X) + \lim_{t \to \infty} \sup diam X(t).$$

2.2.3 MNC in the space C([a, b], F)

The space C([a, b], F) is furnished with the standard sup-norm $||x||_{\infty} = \sup\{||x(t)||_F : t \in [a, b]\}$. We use χ to denote the Hausdorff measure of noncompactness in the Banach space F. We also define the function ψ_C on the family of bounded subsets in C([a, b], F) by taking:

$$\psi_C(\Omega) = \chi_{\infty}(\Omega(t)) + mod_C(\Omega),$$

where

$$mod_{C}(\Omega(t)) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup_{x \in \Omega} \{ \sup\{ |x(t_{2}) - x(t_{1})| : t_{1}, t_{2} \in (t - \delta, t + \delta) \} \},\$$

$$mod_C(\Omega)$$
, = $sup\{mod_C(\Omega(t)) : t \in [a, b]\}$,

and

$$\chi_{\infty}(\Omega) = \sup\{\chi(\Omega(t)) : t \in [a, b]\}$$

Then, ψ_C is a full monotone and nonsingular MNC on the space C([a, b], F).

2.2.4 MNC in $C^1([a, b], F)$

Let $C^1([a, b], F)$ denote the Banach space of the continuously differentiable functions $x : [a, b] \longrightarrow F$, equipped with the norm $||x||_{c^1} = ||x||_c + ||x'||_c$. The function ψ_{C^1} , defined on the bounded subsets of $C^1([a, b], F)$ by the formula [15]

$$\psi_{C^1}(\Omega) = \psi_C(\Omega) + \psi_C(\Omega')$$

is an MNC, where $\Omega'(t) = \{x'(t) : x \in \Omega\}$. If the set $\Omega' = \{x' : x \in \Omega\}$ is equicontinuous and the MNC ψ_{C^n} is continuous, then $\psi_{C^1}(\Omega) \in C[a, b]$.

2.2.5 MNC in $C^n([a, b], F)$

Let $C^n([a, b], F)$ denote the Banach space of the n-times continuously differentiable functions $x : [a, b] \longrightarrow F$, endowed with the norm $||x||_{C^n} = \sum_{i=0}^n ||x||_C$. Then each MNC ψ on C([a, b], F) generates an MNC ψ_{C^n} on $C^n([a, b], F)$ by the rule

$$\psi_{C^n}(\Omega) = \psi_C(\Omega) + \psi_C(\Omega') + \dots + \psi_C(\Omega^n),$$

where $\Omega^{(n)} = \{x^{(n)} : x \in \Omega\}.$

2.2.6 MNC in $L_p([a, b])$

Let Ω be a bounded subset of the space $L_p([a, b])$ of equivalence classes of measurable functions $x : [a, b] \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ which are *p*-integrable, endowed with the norm $||x|| = \left(\int_a^b (|x(t)|^p dt)^{\frac{1}{p}}$. Then $\frac{1}{2}\mu(\Omega) \le \chi(\Omega) \le \mu(\Omega)$.

The function μ appearing above is defined by the formula

$$\mu(\Omega) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \{ \sup_{x \in \Omega} [\max_{0 \le h \le \varepsilon} \| x - x_h \|] \},\$$

where x_h denotes the steklov mean of the function x defined as

$$x_h(t) = \frac{1}{2h} \int_{t-h}^{t+h} x(s) ds$$

Proposition 2.2.1. [22] Let F be a Banach space and $T \subset C([a, b], F)$ equicontinuous with T(t) bounded for each $t \in [a, b]$. Then

1. For all $t, s \in [a, b]$, one has

$$|\alpha(T(t)) - \alpha(T(s))| \le 2\omega(T,\delta),$$

where $\omega(T; \delta)$ is the modulus of continuity of T, namely

$$\omega(T,\delta) = \sup\{|u(t) - u(s)|; t, s \in [a,b], |t-s| \le \delta, u \in T\}.$$

2. We have

$$\alpha\left(\int_0^1 T(t)dt\right) \le \int_0^1 \alpha(T(t))dt,$$

where

$$\int_0^1 T(t)dt = \left\{\int_0^1 u(t)dt; u \in T\right\}.$$

2.3 Mönch-Krasnoselski fixed point theorem

Lemma 2.3.1. [19] Let $S : F \longrightarrow F$ be a strict contraction with constant $K \in [0, 1)$. Then, I - S is bijective and $(I - S)^{-1} : F \longrightarrow F$ is continuous Lipschitzian with constant $(1 - K)^{-1}$.

Proof. Notice for $x, y \in F$, we have:

$$\| (I-S)x - (I-S)y \| \ge (1-K) \| x - y \|.$$
(2.6)

Thus, I - S is one-to-one. Now, let $y \in F$ be fixed. The map which assigns to each $x \in F$ the value Sx + y is a strict contraction from F into itself, and so has a unique fixed point $x_0 \in F$, by the contraction mapping principle. Hence, $x_0 = Sx_0 + y$, and therefore, $y = (I - S)x_0$. Consequently, F = (I - S)F. The second assertion follows from 2.6.

The following theorem is a basic result in topological fixed point theory. It generalizes, in some sense, Mönch fixed point theorem as well as Krasnoselski fixed point theorem. **Theorem 2.3.1.** [19] Let F be a Banach space and M be a nonempty closed convex subset of F. Let $T: M \longrightarrow F$ and $S: F \longrightarrow F$ be two continuous mappings satisfying the following conditions:

(i) There is some $x_0 \in M$ and a positive integer n_0 , such that for all countable $C \subset M$, we have:

$$\overline{C} = \mathcal{F}^{(n_0, x_0)}(T, S, C) \text{ implies that } C \text{ is relatively compact.}$$
(2.7)

(ii) S is a strict contraction.

(iii)
$$(x = Sx + Ty, y \in M)$$
 implies $x \in M$.

Then, T + S has at least one fixed point in M.

Proof. [19] Referring to Lemma 2.3.1, we see that $\tau = (I - S)^{-1}T : M \longrightarrow F$ is well defined and continuous. Moreover, from our assumptions, we know that τ maps M into itself and we have $\mathcal{F}(T, S, \Omega) = \tau(\Omega)$, for any $\Omega \subset M$. Now, we consider the iterative sequence (D_n) of sets:

$$D_0 = \{x_0\}, \quad D_n = \mathcal{F}^{(1,x_0)}(T, S, D_{n-1}), n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

By mathematical induction, it is easily seen that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have:

$$D_n \subset D_{n+1}.\tag{2.8}$$

We will use mathematical induction to prove that the statement P(n) given by "for all $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$, the set D_n is compact" is true. Observing that D_0 is compact, we obtain that the base case P(0) is true. Next, we perform the inductive step. Assume that P(n) is true for some integer $n \ge 0$; that is, D_n is compact. Using the continuity of τ together with the Krein-Milman theorem, we infer that:

$$D_{n+1} = \mathcal{F}^{(1,x_0)}(T, S, D_n) = \overline{co}(\{x_0\} \cup \tau(D_n))$$

$$(2.9)$$

is compact. Consequently, we have shown our statement P(n + 1) to be true, and thus, our inductive step is complete. Let us put $D = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} D_n$. Easy considerations lead us to infer that:

$$\overline{D} = \mathcal{F}^{(1,x_0)}(T,S,D). \tag{2.10}$$

Notice for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, D_n is compact, and so, it is separable. Thus, for each n, there exists a countable set $C_n \subset D_n$, such that $D_n = \overline{C_n}$. Let us consider $C = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} C_n$. It

is easy to check that:

$$\overline{D} = \overline{C}.\tag{2.11}$$

Linking 2.10 and 2.11, we arrive at:

$$\overline{C} = \overline{D} = \overline{co}(\{x_0\} \cup \mathcal{F}(T, S, D)) = \overline{co}(\{x_0\} \cup \mathcal{F}(T, S, \overline{D}))$$
$$= \overline{co}(\{x_0\} \cup \mathcal{F}(T, S, \overline{C})) = \overline{co}(\{x_0\} \cup \mathcal{F}(T, S, C)) = \mathcal{F}^{(1, x_0)}(T, S, C).$$

As a result:

$$\overline{C} = \mathcal{F}^{(1,x_0)}(T, S, C).$$
(2.12)

Using a simple mathematical induction, we obtain:

$$\overline{C} = \mathcal{F}^{(n_0, x_0)}(T, S, C).$$
(2.13)

From our hypotheses, we know that C is relatively compact. In view of 2.12, we have $\tau(\overline{C}) \subset \overline{C}$. The Schauder fixed point theorem ensures the existence of a fixed point for τ which, in turn, is a fixed point for T + S.

Chapter

Applications

3.1 Neutral partial integrodifferential equation without compactness

We will investigate the existence of mild solutions for neutral partial integrodifferential equations of the following form [19]

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{G}(u)(t) = A\mathcal{G}(u)(t) + \int_0^t B(t-s)\mathcal{G}(u)(s)ds + \mathcal{M}(t,u(t)) \text{ for } t \in [0,a],\\ u(0) = u_0 \in F, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where $A: D(A) \subset F \longrightarrow F$ is a closed linear operator on a Banach space $(F, \| \cdot \|_F)$, $(B(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a family of closed linear operators on F having the same domain $D(B) \supset D(A)$ which is independent of t and

$$\mathcal{G}(u)(t) = u(t) - G(t, u(t)) \quad for \ t \in [0, a],$$

where G, \mathcal{M} are given functions to be specified later. Equation 3.1 is known as abstract neutral integrodifferential equations.

3.1.1 Resolvent operators and measure of noncompactness

Let $(F, \| \cdot \|_F)$ be a Banach space and let C([0, a], F) denote the Banach space of all continuous functions defined on [0, a] with values in F equipped with the standard sup-norm. Also, for any closed linear operator (A, D(A)) on F, we denote by Y the Banach space D(A) equipped with the graph norm

$$|| x ||_G := || Ax ||_F + || x ||_F.$$

We need the following results on the resolvent operator theory. Let us consider the following integrodifferential equation:

$$\begin{cases} y'(t) = Ay(t) + \int_0^t B(t-s)y(s)ds \text{ for } t \ge 0\\ y(0) = y_0 \in F. \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

We start by defining the resolvent operator for Eq. 3.2.

Definition 3.1.1. [19] A resolvent operator for Eq. 3.2 is a bounded linear operator valued function $R(t) \in \mathcal{L}(F)$ for $t \ge 0$ having the following properties:

- (a) R(0) = I, the identity map on F and $|| R(t) ||_{\mathcal{L}(F)} \leq M e^{\beta t}$ for some constants $M \leq 1$ and $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (b) For each $x \in F$, R(t)x is strongly continuous for $t \ge 0$.
- (c) $R(t) \in \mathcal{L}(Y)$ for $t \ge 0$. For $x \in Y, R(.)x \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+, F) \cap C(\mathbb{R}_+, Y)$ and:

$$R'(t)x = AR(t)x + \int_0^t B(t-s)R(s)xds \text{ for } t \ge 0$$

= $R(t)Ax + \int_0^t R(t-s)B(s)xds \text{ for } t \ge 0.$ (3.3)

In the sequel, we provide sufficient conditions ensuring the existence of the resolvent operator. For this purpose, we consider the following assumptions:

- (I) A is a closed densely defined linear operator on a Banach space $(F, \| \cdot \|_F)$.
- (II) $(B(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a family of linear operators on F, such that B(t) is continuous from Y to F for almost all $t \geq 0$. Moreover, there is a locally integrable function $b: \mathbb{R}^+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$, such that B(t)y is measurable and

$$|| B(t)y ||_F \le b(t) || y ||_G \text{ for all } y \in Y \text{ and } t \ge 0.$$

(III) For any $y \in Y$, the map $t \longrightarrow B(t)y$ belongs to $W^{1,1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^+, F)$ and:

$$\parallel \frac{d}{dt}B(t)y \parallel \leq b(t) \parallel y \parallel_G; \text{ for } y \in Y \text{ and } a.e. \ t \in \mathbb{R}^+;$$

here, $W_{loc}^{1,1}(\mathbb{R}^+, F)$ stands for the set of all functions $u \in L_{loc}^1(\mathbb{R}^+, F)$ which admits a distributional derivative $u' \in L_{loc}^1(\mathbb{R}^+, F)$.

We point out that resolvent operators do not verify semigroup property. For example, if we take $F = \mathbb{R}$, Ay = y and B(t) = -2y in Eq. (3.2), then, we have:

$$R(t)x = e^t(\cos t + \sin t)x$$
 and $T(t)x = e^{2t}x$.

However, the following significant result ensures the existence a resolvent operator for Eq. 3.2 provided that A generates a strongly continuous semigroup.

Theorem 3.1.1. [19] Assume that (I) - (III) hold. Then, Eq. (3.2) admits a resolvent operator if and only if A generates a C_0 – semigroup.

We work in the space C := C(I, F) consisting of all functions defined and continuous on I = [0, a] with values in the Banach space F. The space C(I, F) is furnished with the standard sup-norm $|| x ||_{\infty} = \sup\{|| x(t) ||_F: t \in I\}$. We use χ_C to denote the Hausdorff measure of noncompactness in the space C(I, F). We also define the function ψ_C on the family of bounded subsets in C(I, F) by taking:

$$\psi_C(\Omega) = \chi_{\infty}(\Omega) + mod_C(\Omega),$$

where

$$mod_C(\Omega(t)) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup_{x \in \Omega} \{ sup\{ | x(t_2) - x(t_1) | : t_1, t_2 \in (t - \delta, t + \delta) \} \},$$
$$mod_C(\Omega), = sup\{ mod_C(\Omega(t)) : t \in I \},$$

and

$$\chi_{\infty}(\Omega) = \sup\{\chi(\Omega(t)) : t \in I\};\$$

Then, ψ_C is a full monotone and nonsingular MNC on the space C(I, F). We introduce the following sets. Let M be a nonempty closed convex subset of $F, T, S : M \longrightarrow F$ two nonlinear mappings and $x_0 \in F$. For any $\Omega \subseteq M$, we define:

$$\mathcal{F}(T, S, \Omega) = \{ x \in M : x = Sx + Ty, \text{ for some } y \in \Omega \},$$
$$\mathcal{F}^{(1,x_0)}(T, S, \Omega) = \overline{co}(\{x_0\} \cup \mathcal{F}(T, S, \Omega)),$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}^{(n,x_0)}(T,S,\Omega) = \overline{co}\Big(\{x_0\} \cup \mathcal{F}\Big(T,S,\Big(\mathcal{F}^{(n-1,x_0)}(T,S,\Omega)\Big)\Big)\Big),$$

for n = 2, 3,

When S = 0, we abbreviate the notation $\mathcal{F}^{(n,x_0)}(T,0,\Omega)$ to $\mathcal{F}^{(n,x_0)}(T,\Omega)$. It may

happen that the set $\mathcal{F}(T, S, \Omega)$ is empty. In such a case, we cannot expect to have a fixed point for the sum S + T in Ω . Therefore, this case is not relevant to our purpose. In the case where S is a strict contraction, we are absolutely sure that all the sets $\mathcal{F}(T, S, \Omega)$ are nonempty.

Proposition 3.1.1. [19] Assume that:

- (a) $S: F \to F$ is a strict contraction with constant $k \in [0, 1)$ and
- (b) $(x = Sx + Ty, y \in M)$ implies $x \in M$. Then:
- (i) $\mathcal{F}^{(n,x_0)}(T,S,\Omega)$ is a nonempty subset of M for any $\Omega \subset M$ and any positive integer $n \geq 1$.
- (ii) $\mathcal{F}^{(n,x_0)}(T,S,\Omega) = \mathcal{F}^{(n,x_0)}((I-S)^{-1}T,\Omega)$ for any $\Omega \subset M$ and any positive integer $n \geq 1$.

(iii) $\Omega_1 \subset \Omega_2 \subset M$ implies $\mathcal{F}^{(n,x_0)}(T,S,\Omega_1) \subset \mathcal{F}^{(n,x_0)}(T,S,\Omega_2) \subset M$ for any $n \ge 1$.

Lemma 3.1.1. [19] Let $\mathcal{H} \subseteq C([0, a], F)$ be equicontinuous and $x_0 \in C([0, a], F)$. Then, $\overline{co}(\mathcal{H} \cup \{x_0\})$ is also equicontinuous in C([0, a], F).

Lemma 3.1.2. [19] Let $\mathcal{H} \subset C([0, a]; F)$ be a bounded set. Then, $\chi(\mathcal{H}(t)) \leq \chi_C(\mathcal{H})$ for any $t \in [0, a]$, where $\mathcal{H}(t) = \{u(t) : u \in \mathcal{H}\}$. Furthermore, if \mathcal{H} is equicontinuous on [0, a], then $t \to \chi(\mathcal{H}(t))$ is continuous on [0, a] and:

$$\chi_C(\mathcal{H}) = \chi_\infty(\mathcal{H}),$$

where

$$\chi_{\infty}(\mathcal{H}) = \sup\{\chi(\mathcal{H}(t)) : t \in [0, a]\}.$$

Lemma 3.1.3. [19] Let \mathcal{H} be a bounded subset of F. Then, there exists a sequence $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$, such that:

$$\chi(\mathcal{H}) = \chi((u_n)_{n \ge 1}).$$

We also need the following elementary result.

Lemma 3.1.4. [19] For all $0 \le m \le n$, we denote $C_n^m = \binom{n}{m}$. Let $0 < \varepsilon < 1, h > 0$, and:

$$S_n = \varepsilon^n + C_n^1 \varepsilon^{n-1} h + C_n^2 \varepsilon^{n-2} \frac{h^2}{2!} + \dots + \frac{h^n}{n!}, n \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$

Then, $\lim_{n \to \infty} S_n = 0$.

3.1.2 New Mönch–Krasnoselski type fixed point theorems

We establish a new fixed point theorem for the sum of two operators. This fixed point result is really interesting and may have several applications. It will serve as a key tool for the development of our existence theory. Before making a formal statement of our fixed point result, we need to recall the following more or less well-known result. Referring to lemma 2.3.1 and theorem 2.3.1.

We describe the case where S = 0.

Corollary 3.1.1. [19] Let F be a Banach space and M be a nonempty closed convex subset of F. Let $T : M \longrightarrow M$ be a continuous mapping. Assume that there are a vector $x_0 \in M$ and a positive integer n_0 , such that for any countable subset C of M, we have:

$$\overline{C} = \mathcal{F}^{(n_0, x_0)}(T, C) \text{ implies that } C \text{ is relatively compact.}$$
(3.4)

Then, T has at least one fixed point in M.

In view of Theorem 2.3.1, we promptly deduce the following interesting results.

Corollary 3.1.2. [19] Let F be a Banach space, M be a nonempty bounded closed convex subset of F, and ψ be a nonsingular measure of noncompactness on F. Let $T: M \longrightarrow F$ and $S: F \longrightarrow F$ be two continuous mappings satisfying:

(i) there exist a vector x_0 and a positive integer n_0 , such that for any countable subset Ω of M with $\psi(\Omega) > 0$, we have:

$$\psi(\mathcal{F}^{(n_0,x_0)}(T,S,\Omega)) < \psi(\Omega); \tag{3.5}$$

- (*ii*) S is a strict contraction;
- (iii) $(x = Sx + Ty, y \in M)$ implies $x \in M$.

Then, T + S has at least one fixed point in M.

Corollary 3.1.3. [19] Let F be a Banach space, M be a nonempty bounded closed convex subset of F, and ψ be a nonsingular measure of noncompactness on F. Let $T: M \to M$ be a continuous mapping, such that there exist a vector x_0 and a positive integer n_0 , such that for any countable subset Ω of M with $\psi(\Omega) > 0$, we have:

$$\psi(\mathcal{F}^{(n_0,x_0)}(T,\Omega)) < \psi(\Omega). \tag{3.6}$$

Then, T has at least one fixed point in M.

As a consequence of Corollary 3.1.3, we obtain the following statement which is a sharpening of Daher's theorem

Corollary 3.1.4. [19] Let F be a Banach space, M be a nonempty bounded closed convex subset of F, and ψ be a nonsingular measure of noncompactness on F. Let $T: M \to M$ be a continuous mapping, such that for any countable subset Ω of M with $\psi(\Omega) > 0$, we have:

$$\psi(T(\Omega)) < \psi(\Omega). \tag{3.7}$$

Then, T has at least one fixed point in M.

3.1.3 Existence results

We will prove the existence of a mild solution for the neutral equation 3.1. But before that, we need to recall some results regarding the estimation of the Hausdorff measure of noncompactness for integral operators and related results. We start with the following interesting results.

Theorem 3.1.2. [19] Let \mathcal{F} be a function from $[0, +\infty)$ into $\mathcal{L}(F)$. Suppose that \mathcal{F} is continuous for the strong operator topology. Let Ω be a bounded subset of F and $\mathcal{F} = \{\mathcal{F}(.)x, x \in \Omega\} \subset C(\mathbb{R}^+, F)$. Then, for any $t \ge 0$, we have:

$$mod_C(\mathcal{F}(t)) \le \omega(\mathcal{F}(t))\chi(\Omega).$$

In particular, for any $t \in [0, a]$, we have:

$$mod_C(\mathcal{F}(t)) \le 2M_a \chi(\Omega),$$

where:

$$\omega(\mathcal{F}(t)) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup_{\|x\| \le 1} \{ \| \mathcal{F}(t_2)x - \mathcal{F}(t_1)x \|_F : t_1, t_2 \in (t - \delta, t + \delta) \}$$

and

$$M_a = \sup_{t \in [0,a]} \parallel \mathcal{F}(t) \parallel_{\mathcal{L}(F)}.$$

Proposition 3.1.2. [19] Let \mathcal{F} be a function from $[0, +\infty)$ into $\mathcal{L}(F)$. Suppose that \mathcal{F} is continuous for the strong operator topology. Then, for any compact $\mathcal{K} \subset F$, we have:

$$\sup_{y \in \mathcal{K}} \| \mathcal{F}(t)y - \mathcal{F}(t_0)y \|_F \to 0 \text{ as } t \to t_0.$$

Let \mathcal{V} be an operator defined on $L^1([0,a];F)$ with values in C([0,a];F) satisfying the following conditions:

 (S_1) There exists d > 0, such that:

$$\| \mathcal{V}f(t) - \mathcal{V}g(t) \|_F \le d \int_0^t \| f(s) - g(s) \|_F ds,$$

for every $f, g \in L^1([0, a]; F)$ and $t \in [0, a]$.

(S₂) For any compact $\mathcal{K} \subset F$ and any sequence $(f_n)_{n\geq 1} \subset L^1((0,a);F)$, such that $(f_n(t))_{n\geq 1} \subset \mathcal{K}$ for a.e. $t \in [0,a]$, we have:

$$f_n \rightharpoonup f_0 \text{ implies } \mathcal{V} f_n \rightarrow \mathcal{V} f_0.$$

The following fundamental theorems are crucial for our further work.

Theorem 3.1.3. [19] Assume that the operator \mathcal{V} satisfies (S_1) and (S_2) . Let $(f_n)_{n\geq 1} \subset L^1((0,a);F)$ be integrably bounded, namely:

$$|| f_n(t) || \le v(t) \text{ for all } n \ge 1 \text{ and } a.e \ t \in [0, a],$$
 (3.8)

where $v \in L^1(0, a)$. Assume that:

$$\chi((f_n(t))_{n\geq 1}) \le q(t) \text{ for } a.e \ t \in [0,a],$$
(3.9)

where $q \in L^1(0, a)$. Then:

$$\chi((\mathcal{V}f_n(t))_{n\geq 1}) \leq 2d \int_0^t q(s)ds,$$

for all $t \in [0, a]$, where d > 0 is given in (S_1) .

Theorem 3.1.4. [19] Assume that the operator \mathcal{V} satisfies (S_1) and (S_2) . Let $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset L^1([0,a];F)$ be as in 3.8. Assume that 3.9 holds. Then, for every $t \in [0,a]$, we have:

$$mod_C((\mathcal{V}f_n(t))_{n\geq 1}) \leq 4d \int_0^t q(s)ds,$$

$$(3.10)$$

where $d \geq 0$ is the constant in (S_1) .

For later use, we consider the integral operator:

$$(\mathcal{V}_0 f)(t) = \int_0^t R(t-s)f(s)ds, \text{ for } t \in [0,a],$$

where $f \in C([0, a]; F)$.

The operator \mathcal{V}_0 enjoys some interesting and useful properties given by the following.

Theorem 3.1.5. [19] Let $(f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset L^1([0,a];F)$ be such that the set $(f_n(t))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ resides in a compact set \mathcal{K} , for almost every $t \in [0,a]$. Then, the sequence $(\mathcal{V}_0 f_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is relatively compact in C([0,a];F).

Theorem 3.1.6. [19] The integral operator \mathcal{V}_0 satisfies (S_1) and (S_2) .

From now on, we assume that the assumptions (I)-(III) hold true and the operator A generates a strongly continuous semigroup. Our main purpose in the immediate sequel is to show the existence of solutions to Eq.3.1. Before doing so, it is appropriate to clarify the definition of solution which we will consider.

Definition 3.1.2. [19] A continuous function $u : [0, a] \to F$ is said to be a mild solution of Eq. 3.1 if:

$$u(t) = R(t)\mathcal{G}(0, u_0) + G(t, u(t)) + \int_0^t R(t - s)\mathcal{M}(s, u(s))ds \text{ for } t \in [0, a].$$
(3.11)

To obtain the existence of mild solutions to 3.1 , we assume the following assumptions.

- (H1) The function $\mathcal{M} : [0, a] \times F \to F$ satisfies the Carathéodory conditions; that is, $\mathcal{M}(., z)$ is measurable for all $z \in F$ and $\mathcal{M}(t, .)$ is continuous for almost all $t \in [0, a]$.
- (H2) There exist a function $\rho \in L^1((0, a); \mathbb{R}^+)$ and a nondecreasing continuous function $\Omega : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$, such that:

$$|| f(t,z) || \le \rho(t)\Omega(|| z ||_F) \text{ for all } t \in [0,a] \text{ and } z \in F.$$

(H3) There exists a function $\theta \in L^1([0, a]; \mathbb{R}^+)$, such that for any bounded set $\Omega \subseteq F$:

$$\chi(f(t,\Omega)) \le \theta(t)\chi(\Omega).$$

(H4) There is a $k_0 \in [0, 1)$, such that for any $t_1, t_2 \in [0, a]$ and any $z_1, z_2 \in F$, we have:

$$|| G(t_1, z_1) - G(t_2, z_2) ||_F \le k_0 (| t_1 - t_2 | + || z_1 - z_2 ||_F).$$

(H5)

$$k_0 + M_a \lim_{r \to \infty} \inf \frac{\Omega(r)}{r} \int_0^a \rho(s) ds < 1.$$

To allow the abstract formulation of our problem, we define the following operators as follows:

$$(Su)(t) = R(t)\mathcal{G}(0, u_0) + G(t, u(t)) \text{ for } t \in [0, a], \ u \in C([0, a]; F)$$

and

$$T = \mathcal{V}_0 \circ N_f,$$

where

$$N_f u = f(., u(.)) \text{ for } u \in C([0, a]; F).$$

It is plainly visible that u is a mild solution of Eq. 3.1 if and only if u is a fixed point of T + S. With this in mind, we shall show that operators T,S satisfy all conditions of Theorem 2.3.1. This will be achieved in a series of lemmas.

Lemma 3.1.5. [19] The operator T maps continuously C([0, a]; F) into itself.

Proof. Let $(u_n)_n$ be a sequence in C([0, a]; F), such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} u_n = u \text{ in } C([0, a]; F).$$

By (H1), we have:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{M}(s, u_n(s)) = \mathcal{M}(s, u(s))$$

for a.e. $s \in [0, a]$. Hence:

$$\|Tu_n - Tu\|_{\infty} \leq M_a \int_0^a \|\mathcal{M}(s, u_n(s)) - \mathcal{M}(s, u(s))\|_F ds.$$

Using the dominated convergence Theorem, we obtain:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \| Tu_n - Tu \|_{\infty} = 0.$$

This completes the proof.

Lemma 3.1.6. [19] S is a strict contraction.

Proof. Let $u, v \in C([0, a]; F)$ and $t \in [0, a]$. Then, by (H4), we have:

$$\| (Su)(t) - (Sv)(t) \|_F \le \| G(t, u(t)) - G(t, v(t)) \|_F$$
$$\le k_0 \| u(t) - v(t) \|_F.$$

Consequently:

$$\parallel Su - Sv \parallel_{\infty} \leq k_0 \parallel u - v \parallel_{\infty}.$$

Lemma 3.1.7. [19] There is a $r_0 > 0$, such that:

$$(u = Su + Tv, v \in B_{r_0})$$
 implies $u \in B_{r_0}$,

where $B_r = \{ u \in C([0, a]; F) : || u ||_{\infty} \leq r \}.$

Proof. We argue by contradiction. Assume that for all r > 0, there are $u \in C([0, a]; F)$ and $v \in B_r$, such that u = Su + Tv and $u \notin B_r$. Hence, for any $t \in [0, a]$, we have:

$$\| (Su)(t) + (Tv)(t) \|_{F}$$

$$\leq \| R(t)(u_{0} - G(0, u_{0})) + G(t, u(t)) \|_{F} + \| \int_{0}^{t} R(t - s)\mathcal{M}(s, v(s))ds \|_{F}$$

$$\leq M_{a} \| u_{0} - G(0, u_{0}) \|_{F} + \| G(t, u(t)) \|_{F} + M_{a}\Omega(r) \int_{0}^{a} \rho(s)ds$$

$$\leq M_{a} \| u_{0} - G(0, u_{0}) \|_{F} + \| G(t, 0) \|_{F} + k_{0} \| u \|_{\infty} + M_{a}\Omega(r) \int_{0}^{a} \rho(s)ds.$$

Thus:

$$\| u \|_{\infty} = \| Su + Tv \|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq M_{a} \| u_{0} - G(0, u_{0}) \|_{F} + \| G(., 0) \|_{\infty} + k_{0} \| u \|_{\infty} + M_{a}\Omega(r) \int_{0}^{a} \rho(s) ds.$$

Consequently:

$$r < \| u \|_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{1 - k_0} \left(M_a \| u_0 - G(0, u_0) \|_F + \| G(., 0) \|_{\infty} + M_a \Omega(r) \int_0^a \rho(s) ds \right),$$

this implies that:

$$1 < \frac{1}{1 - k_0} \left(\frac{M_a \parallel u_0 - G(0, u_0) \parallel_F}{r} + \frac{\parallel G(., 0) \parallel_{\infty}}{r} + M_a \frac{\Omega(r)}{r} \int_0^a \rho(s) ds \right).$$

Taking the limit as $r \to \infty$, we obtain that:

$$1 \le k_0 + M_a \lim_{r \to \infty} \inf \frac{\Omega(r)}{r} \int_0^a \rho(s) ds,$$

which contradicts (H5). This achieves the proof.

Lemma 3.1.8. [19] There is an integer n_0 , such that $\chi_{\infty}(\mathcal{F}^{(n_0,0)}(T, S, D)) < \chi_{\infty}(D)$, for any bounded subset D of C([0, a], F), with $\chi_{\infty}(D) > 0$.

Proof. Let D be a bounded subset of C([0, a], F), such that $\chi_{\infty}(D) > 0$. Then, for any $t \in [0, a]$, we have that:

$$\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D)(t) = \{u(t), u \in \mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D)\}$$
$$\subseteq \{u(t) - Su(t), u \in \mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(S,K,D)\} + \{Su(t), u \in \mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(S,K,D)\}.$$

Using the properties of the Hausdorff measure of noncompactness, we get:

$$\chi(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D)(t)) \le \chi(T(D)(t)) + k_0 \chi(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D)(t)).$$

As a result:

$$\chi(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D)(t)) \le \frac{1}{1-k_0}\chi(T(D)(t)).$$
(3.12)

Referring to Lemma 3.1.3, we see that there is a sequence $(u_n)_{n\geq 1} \subseteq D$, such that:

$$\chi(T(D)(t)) \le \chi((Tu_n(t))_{n\ge 1}) \le \chi\left(\left(\int_0^t R(t-s)\mathcal{M}(s,u_n(s))ds\right)_{n\ge 1}\right).$$

Invoking Theorem 3.1.3, we obtain:

$$\chi(T(D)(t)) \le 2M_a \int_0^t C(s)\chi((u_n(s))_{n\ge 1})ds \le 2M_a\chi_{\infty}(D) \int_0^t C(s)ds.$$

Taking into account the density of $C([0, a]; \mathbb{R})$ in $L^1([0, a]; \mathbb{R})$, we see that for any $\delta < \frac{1-k_0}{2M_a}$, there exists $\varphi \in C([0, a]; \mathbb{R})$ satisfying

$$\int_0^a |C(s) - \varphi(s)| ds < \delta.$$

Consequently:

$$\chi(T(D)(t)) \le 2M_a \chi_{\infty}(D) \Big[\int_0^t |C(s) - \varphi(s)| ds + \int_0^t |\varphi(s)| ds \Big]$$
$$\le 2M_a \chi_{\infty}(D) [\delta + \tau t],$$

where $\tau = \sup_{0 \le s \le a} |\varphi(s)|$. Thus:

$$\chi(T(D)(t)) \le (2M_a\delta + 2M_a\tau t)\chi_{\infty}(D).$$

This means by 3.12 that:

$$\chi(F^{(1,0)}(T, S, D)(t)) \le (\lambda + \mu t)\chi_{\infty}(D),$$
(3.13)

where $\lambda = \frac{2M_a\delta}{(1-k_0)}$ and $\mu = \frac{2M_a\tau}{(1-k_0)}$. Furthermore:

$$\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(T,S,D)(t) \subseteq \{u(t) - Su(t), u \in \mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(T,S,D)\} + \{Su(t), u \in \mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(T,S,D)\}$$
$$\subseteq \{Tv(t), v \in \overline{co}(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D) \cup \{0\})\} + \{Su(t), u \in \mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(T,S,D)\}.$$

Hence, a similar reasoning as above yields:

$$\chi(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(T,S,D)(t)) \le \chi(T(\overline{co}(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D) \cup \{0\}))(t)) + k_0\chi(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(T,S,D)(t)).$$

Thus:

$$\chi(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(T,S,D)(t)) \le \frac{1}{1-k_0} \chi(S(\overline{co}(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D) \cup \{0\}))(t)).$$
(3.14)

Referring to Lemma 3.1.3, we see that there exists a sequence

$$(w_n)_{n\geq 1}\subseteq \overline{co}(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D)\cup\{0\}),$$

such that:

$$\chi(T(\overline{co}(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D)\cup\{0\}))(t)) \leq \chi\left(\left(\int_0^t R(t-s)\mathcal{M}(s,w_n(s))ds\right)_{n\geq 1}\right)$$
$$\leq 2M_a \int_0^t C(s)\chi(\overline{co}(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(S,K,D)\cup\{0\})(s))ds$$
$$\leq 2M_a \int_0^t C(s)\chi(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T,S,D)(s))ds.$$

Liking 3.13 and 3.14, we arrive at:

$$\begin{split} \chi(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(T,S,D)(t)) &\leq \frac{2M_a}{(1-k_0)} \int_0^t [|C(s) - \varphi(s)| + |\varphi(s)|](\lambda + \mu s)\chi_\infty(D) ds \\ &\leq \frac{2M_a}{(1-k_0)} \Big[(\lambda + \mu t) \int_0^t |C(s) - \varphi(s)| ds + \tau \Big(\lambda t + \mu \frac{t^2}{2}\Big) \Big] \chi_\infty(D) \\ &\leq \Big[\lambda(\lambda + \mu t) + \mu \Big(\lambda t + \mu \frac{t^2}{2}\Big) \Big] \chi_\infty(D) \\ &\leq \Big[\lambda^2 + 2\lambda\mu t + \frac{(\mu t)^2}{2} \Big] \chi_\infty(D). \end{split}$$

Accordingly:

$$\chi(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(T,S,D)(t)) \leq \left[\lambda^2 + 2\lambda\mu t + \frac{(\mu t)^2}{2}\right]\chi_{\infty}(D).$$

By mathematical induction, we obtain for all integer $n \ge 1$ that:

$$\chi(\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(T,S,D)(t)) \le \left[\lambda^n + C_n^1 \lambda^{n-1} \mu t + C_n^2 \lambda^{n-2} \frac{(\mu t)^2}{2!} + \dots + \frac{(\mu t)^n}{n!}\right] \chi_{\infty}(D).$$

Accordingly:

$$\chi_{\infty}(\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(T,S,D)) \le \left[\lambda^{n} + C_{n}^{1}\lambda^{n-1}\mu a + C_{n}^{2}\lambda^{n-2}\frac{(\mu a)^{2}}{2!} + \dots + \frac{(\mu a)^{n}}{n!}\right]\chi_{\infty}(D)$$

Since $0 < \lambda < 1$ and $\mu a > 0$, then from Lemma 3.1.4, we deduce that there exists $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}^*$, such that:

$$S_{n_0} = \left[\lambda^{n_0} + C_{n_0}^1 \lambda^{n_0 - 1} \mu a + C_{n_0}^2 \lambda^{n_0 - 2} \frac{(\mu a)^2}{2!} + \dots + \frac{(\mu a)^{n_0}}{n_0!}\right] < 1,$$

which implies that:

$$\chi_{\infty}(\mathcal{F}^{(n_0,0)}(T,S,D)) < \chi_{\infty}(D).$$

Lemma 3.1.9. [19] Let D be a bounded subset of C([0, a], F). If T(D) is equicontinuous, then so is $\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(T, S, D)$ for any integer $n \ge 1$.

Proof. Let $u \in \mathcal{F}(T, S, D)$. Then, there exists $v \in D$, such that:

$$u = Su + Tv$$

Hence, for $t, t' \in [0, a]$, we have that:

$$\| u(t) - u(t') \|_{F} = \| Su(t) + Tv(t) - Su(t') - Tv(t') \|_{F}$$

$$\leq \| Su(t) - Su(t') \|_{F} + \| Tv(t) - Tv(t') \|_{F}$$

$$\leq \| (R(t) - R(t'))\mathcal{G}(0, u_{0}) \|_{F} + k_{0} \Big(|t - t'| + \| u(t) - u(t') \|_{F} \Big)$$

$$+ \| Tv(t) - Tv(t') \| .$$

Consequently:

$$\| u(t) - u(t') \| \le \frac{1}{1 - k_0} \Big(\| Tv(t) - Tv(t') \|_F + \| (R(t) - R(t'))\mathcal{G}(0, u_0) \|_F \Big) + \frac{k_0}{1 - k_0} |t - t'| \le \frac{k$$

Keeping in mind the fact that T(D) is equicontinuous on [0, a], we deduce that:

$$|| u(t) - u(t') ||_F \to 0 \ as, \ t \to t',$$
 (3.15)

uniformly in $u \in \mathcal{F}(T, S, D)$. This implies that $\mathcal{F}(T, S, D)$ is equicontinuous. In view of Lemma 3.1.1, we conclude that $\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(T, S, D) := \overline{co}(\mathcal{F}(T, S, D) \cup \{0\})$ is equicontinuous. By mathematical induction, one can see that $\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(T, S, D)$ is equicontinuous for all $n \geq 1$.

After these preparations, we are now ready to state the main result of this section.

Theorem 3.1.7. [19] Assume that (H1) - (H5) hold. Then, the problem 3.1 has at least one mild solution on [0, a].

Proof. Let C be a countable subset of B_{r_0} , such that:

$$\overline{C} = \mathcal{F}^{(n_0,0)}(T, S, C). \tag{3.16}$$

Referring to Lemma 3.1.8, we see that $\chi_{\infty}(C) = 0$. Hence, by Theorem 3.1.5 together with assumption (H1), we deduce that T(C) is compact. Now, we apply Lemma 3.1.9 to conclude that $\mathcal{F}^{(n_0,x_0)}(T,S,C)$ is equicontinuous. Going back to 3.16, we infer that C is equicontinuous. The use of Lemma 3.1.2 yields $\chi_C(C) + \chi_{\infty}(C) = 0$ and, therefore, C is relatively compact. Invoking Theorem 2.3.1 together with Lemmas 3.1.5, 3.1.6, 3.1.7, we deduce that S + T has a fixed point in B_{r_0} , which is, in turn, a mild solution to 3.1.

3.2 Example

[19] Now, we apply our abstract results to investigate the existence of mild solutions for the following neutral integrodifferential equation subjected to some initial data :

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[u(t,x) - g(u(t,x)) \right] = \upsilon \cdot \nabla \left[u(t,x) - g(u(t,x)) \right] \\ + \int_0^t \beta e^{-(t-s)\mu} \upsilon \cdot \nabla \left[u(s,x) - g(u(s,x)) \right] ds \\ + p_1(t) p_2(u(t,x)), \text{ for } t \in [0,a] \text{ and } x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \\ u(0,x) = u_0(x), \text{ for } x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \end{cases}$$
(3.17)

where $\beta > 0$, $\mu \in [0, 1]$, $\upsilon = (\upsilon_1, \upsilon_2, ..., \upsilon_d)$ is a fixed element in $\mathbb{R}^d, d \ge 1$, and $\upsilon \cdot \nabla \omega$ is the $\upsilon - directional$ distributional derivative of ω , that is:

$$\upsilon \cdot \nabla \omega(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \upsilon_i \frac{\partial \omega}{\partial x_i}(x),$$

for each $\omega \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ with $v \cdot \nabla \omega \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $1 \leq p < +\infty$ and a.e. for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Assume that:

- (i) $p_1: [0, a] \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is integrable, $p_2: \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ is Lipschitzian with constant $L_2 > 0$ and $p_2(0) = 0$.
- (ii) There exists $k_0 \in [0, 1)$ such that:

$$|g(z) - g(z')| \le k_0 |z - z'|$$
 for $z, z' \in \mathbb{R}$.

(iii) $u_0 \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Let $F = L^p(\mathbb{R}^d), d \ge 1$, with $1 \le p < +\infty$ and let $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Let u(t) = u(t, .) and define the functions $G, \mathcal{M} : [0, a] \times F \to F$ by

$$\mathcal{M}(t,\omega)(x) = p_1(t)p_2(\omega(x))$$

and

$$G(t,\omega)(x) = g(\omega(x)), \text{ for } t \in [0,a], x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

and $\omega \in F$. Hence, 3.17 takes the following form:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt} [u(t) - G(u(t))] = A [u(t) - G(u(t))] + \int_0^t B(t-s) [u(s) - G(u(s))] ds \\ + \mathcal{M}(t, u(t)) \text{ for } t \in [0, a] \\ u(0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$
(3.18)

Where $A: D(A) \subseteq F \longrightarrow F$ is defined by:

$$D(A) = \{ u \in L_p \mathbb{R}^d, v \cdot \nabla u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d) \},\$$
$$Au = v \cdot \nabla u,$$

for each $u \in D(A)$, and $B(t) = \beta e^{-t\mu}A = b(t)A$, for $t \ge 0$. We will show that all conditions of Theorem 3.1.7 are satisfied. This will be achieved in a series of lemmas.

Before we do that, the operator A is the infinitesimal generator of the $C_0 - group$ of isometries $\{T(t): F \longrightarrow F; t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ given by:

$$[T(t)\xi](x) = \xi(x+tv),$$

for each $\xi \in F, t \in \mathbb{R}$ and a.e. for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. It should be stressed here that the semigroup $(T(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is neither compact nor equicontinuous. Moreover, for any $t \geq 0$ and any $y \in D(A)$, we have:

$$|| B(t)y ||_F \le || b(t)Ay ||_F \le b(t) || y(t) ||_G,$$

and

$$\parallel \frac{d}{dt}B(t)y \parallel_F \leq \mu b(t) \parallel Ay \parallel_F \leq b(t) \parallel y(t) \parallel_G$$

Referring to Theorem 3.1.1 we see that Eq. 3.17 admits a resolvent operator $(R(t))_{t\geq 0}$:

Lemma 3.2.1. [19]

$$\parallel G(x) - G(y) \parallel_p \le K_0 \parallel x - y \parallel_p .$$

Proof. Let $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in F$. Then, from (ii), we have:

$$|G(\omega_1)(x) - G(\omega_2)(x)| = |g(\omega_1)(x) - g(\omega_2)(x)| \le K_0 |(\omega_1(x)) - (\omega_2(x))|.$$

Thus:

$$|| G(\omega_1) - G(\omega_2) ||_p \le K_0 || \omega_1 - \omega_2 ||_p$$

_		
	_	

Lemma 3.2.2. [19]

$$\| \mathcal{M}(t,\omega) \|_{p} \leq |p_{1}(t)| \Omega(\| \omega \|_{p}) \text{ for all } t \in [0,a] \text{ and } \Omega \in F,$$

where $\Omega(r) = L_2 r$.

Proof. Since $p_2(0) = 0$, then:

$$|\mathcal{M}(t,\omega)(x)| \leq |p_1(t)|| p_2(\omega(x))| \leq |p_1(t)| L_2 |\omega(x)|.$$

Hence:

$$\parallel \mathcal{M}(t,\omega) \parallel_p \leq \mid p_1(t) \mid L_2 \mid \parallel \omega \parallel_p .$$

Lemma 3.2.3. [19] For any bounded set $D \subseteq F$ and any $t \in [0, a]$, we have:

$$\chi(\mathcal{M}(t,D)) \leq |p_1(t)| L_2\chi(D).$$

Proof. Let $t \in [0, a]$, D a subset of F and $\lambda > \chi(D)$. Then, there are $\omega_1, ..., \omega_n \in F$, such that $D \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n B(\omega_i, \lambda)$. Notice that for any $\omega \in D$, there is an $i_0 \in \{1, ..., n\}$, such that $\| \omega - \omega_{i_0} \|_p \leq \lambda$. Hence, for any $x \in F$:

$$|\mathcal{M}(t,\omega)x - \mathcal{M}(t,\omega_{i_0})x| \leq |p_1(t)|| p_2(\omega(x)) - p_2(\omega_{i_0}(x))|$$
$$\leq |p_1(t)| L_2 |\omega(x) - \omega_{i_0}(x)|.$$

This leads to:

$$\parallel \mathcal{M}(t,\omega) - \mathcal{M}(t,\omega_{i_0}) \parallel_p \leq \mid p_1(t) \mid L_2 \parallel \omega - \omega_{i_0} \parallel_p \leq \mid p_1(t) \mid L_2\lambda.$$

Therefore:

$$\chi(\mathcal{M}(t,D)) \le |p_1(t)| L_2\lambda$$

Letting $\lambda \longrightarrow \chi(D)$, we get:

$$\chi(\mathcal{M}(t,D)) \le |p_1(t)| L_2\chi(D).$$

Lemma 3.2.4. [19] Assume that $2\beta(\frac{\mu a^2}{2}+1) < 1$. Then:

$$M_a \le \frac{1}{1 - 2\beta(\frac{\mu a^2}{2} + 1)},\tag{3.19}$$

where

$$M_a = \sup_{t \in [0,a]} \parallel R(t) \parallel .$$

Proof. We know that:

$$T(t)x = R(t)x + \int_0^t R(t-s)Q(s)xds,$$
(3.20)

with

$$Q(s)x = -\int_0^s B'(s-\tau) \int_0^\tau T(\theta) x d\theta d\tau - B(0) \int_0^s T(\tau) x d\tau.$$

It is readily verified that:

$$Q(s)x = \beta \mu \int_0^s e^{-\mu(s-\tau)} A \int_0^\tau T(\theta) x d\theta d\tau - \beta A \int_0^s T(\tau) x d\tau$$
$$= \beta \mu \int_0^s e^{-\mu(s-\tau)} (T(\tau)x - x) d\tau - \beta (T(s)x - x).$$

Therefore, $|| Q(s)x || \le 2\beta(\mu s + 1) || x ||$. Now, we see from 3.20 that:

$$M_a \le 1 + 2\beta M_a \left(\frac{\mu a^2}{2} + 1\right).$$

Hence, $M_a \leq \frac{1}{1-2\beta(\frac{\mu a^2}{2}+1)}$ as asserted.

Theorem 3.2.1. [19] If $k_0 + \frac{\|p_1\|_1 L_2}{1-2\beta(\frac{\mu a^2}{2}+1)} < 1$, then Eq. 3.17 has a mild solution on [0, a].

Proof. [19] This follows from Theorem 3.1.7 on the basis of Lemmas 3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, and 3.2.4. $\hfill \Box$

3.3 Results on neutral partial integrodifferential equations with nonlocal conditions

We establish the solution of the existence of Equations (3.21) and (3.22) with finite delay [21]

$$\frac{d}{dv}\mathcal{D}(v,z_v) = \mathcal{A}\mathcal{D}(v,z_v) + \int_0^v H(v-s)\mathcal{D}(s,z_s)ds + \phi\left(v,z_v,\int_0^v h(v,s,z_s)ds\right),$$
(3.21)

$$z_0 = \varphi + g(z) = C([-r, 0], F).$$
(3.22)

where $v \in I = [0, b]$, \mathcal{A} is a closed linear operator defined on Banach space $(F, \| \cdot \|)$ with domain $D(\mathcal{A})$. Let $[H(v)]_{v\geq 0}$ be the set of all closed linear operators on F with domain $D(H) \supset D(\mathcal{A})$ and C([-r, 0], F) denote the set of all continuous functions defined on [-r, 0] into F. Throughout this theory, F will be used as Banach space. The function \mathcal{D} in $\mathbb{R}^+ \times C \longrightarrow F$ is defined as follows

$$\mathcal{D}(v,\varphi) = \varphi(0) - \mathcal{M}(v,\varphi),$$

where the function \mathcal{M} is continuous from $\mathbb{R}^+ \times C$ into F and the function f is also continuous from $\mathbb{R}^+ \times C \times F$ into F. Let $z_v \in C([-r, 0], F), \forall v \ge 0$, then the history function $z_v \in C$ is defined by

$$z_v(t) = z(v+t) \text{ for } t \in [-r, 0].$$

3.3.1 Existence results

Here, to establish the result on the existence of 3.21 and 3.22, we need the following lemmas [21].

Lemma 3.3.1. [21] Let H be a bounded subset of F, if there is (u_n) in H, then

$$\psi(H) = \psi(u_n) \text{ for } n \ge 1.$$

Lemma 3.3.2. [21] Let $H : [0, b] \longrightarrow F$ be an equicontinuous map and $x_0 \in [0, b]$, then $\overline{co}(H \cup \{x_0\})$ is also equicontinuous.

Theorem 3.3.1. [21] The continuous function \mathcal{F} from $[0,\infty)$ to $\mathcal{L}(F)$ and for some compact set $K \subset F$, then

$$\sup_{y \in K} \parallel \mathcal{F}(v)y - \mathcal{F}(v_0)y \parallel \to 0 \ as \ v \to v_0.$$

The operator V defined on $L^1([0,b];F)$ in C([0,b];F) satisfies,

(S1) For some d > 0, we have

$$\|Vf_1(v) - Vf_2(v)\|_F \le d \int_0^v \|f_1(s) - f_2(s)\|_F \, ds, \text{ for all } f_1, f_2 \in L^1([0,b],F), v \in [0,b]$$

(S2) The compact set $K \subset F$ and $(f_n)_{n \geq 1} \subset L^1([0,b],F)$ implies $(f_n(v))_{n \geq 1} \subset K$ for all $v \in [0,b]$ we have

$$f_n \longrightarrow f_0 \Rightarrow V f_n \longrightarrow V f_0.$$

Theorem 3.3.2. [21] Suppose the operator V satisfies (S1) and (S2) and $(f_n)_{n\geq 1} \subset L^1([0,b],F)$ is integrable and bounded,

$$|| f_n(v) || \le \omega(v), \forall v \in [0, b], n \ge 1, \text{ for some } \omega \in L^1(0, b).$$

Assume that for all $v \in [0, b]$ and for some $q \in L^1(0, b)$ such that

$$\psi\left(\left(f_n(v)\right)_{n\geq 1}\right)\leq q(v).$$

Then

$$\psi\left(\left(vf_n(v)\right)_{n\geq 1}\right) \leq 2d\int_0^v q(s)ds \text{ for all } v\in[0,b], d\in S_1$$

Definition 3.3.1. [21] The continuous function $z : [-r, \infty) \longrightarrow F$ is called a mild solution of Equations 3.21 and 3.22 if the following integral equation is satisfied

 $z(v) = \mathcal{F}(v, z_v)$

$$+R_{1}(v)\left[D\left(0,\varphi(0)+g(z)(0)\right)\right]+\int_{0}^{v}R_{1}(v-s)\phi\left(s,z_{s},\int_{0}^{s}h(s,\tau,z_{\tau})d\tau\right)ds.$$
 (3.23)

To establish this result, we need the below hypotheses:

- (H1) The mapping $\phi : [0, b] \times C \times F$ satisfied Caratheodary conditions, i.e., $\phi(v, ., .)$ is continuous for all $v \in I$ and $\phi(., x, y)$ is measurable, for each $(x, y) \in C \times F$.
- (H2) There is $m_{\phi} \in C([0, b], \mathbb{R}^+)$ and the mapping Ω_{ϕ} from , \mathbb{R}^+ into \mathbb{R}^+ then

$$\| \phi(v, x, y) \| \leq m_{\phi}(v) \Omega_{\phi}(\| x \|_{C} + \| y \|), \forall v \in I \text{ and } (x, y) \in C \times F.$$

(H3) The mapping $h : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \times C \longrightarrow F$ is continuous and $m_h : [0, b] \longrightarrow [0, \infty)$ for some continuous function m_h we have

$$|| h(v, s, x) || \le m_h(s)\Omega_h(|| x ||_C), \forall x \in C, 0 \le s \le v \le b,$$

where $\Omega_h : \mathbb{R}^+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ is the increasing function.

(H4) There exists the functions $p_1, p_2 \in L^1([0, b], \mathbb{R}^+)$ such that

$$\psi(\phi(v,\Omega_1,\Omega_2)) \le p_1(v)\psi(\Omega_1) + p_2(v)\psi(\Omega_2) \text{ for some bounded subsets } \Omega_1,\Omega_2 \subset F.$$

(H5) There is a constant $k \in [0, 1)$ for any $x_1, x_2 \in C$ we have

$$\| \mathcal{F}(v, x_1) - \mathcal{F}(v, x_2) \|_F \le k \| x_1 - x_2 \| \text{ for } v \ge 0.$$

(H6) For $k_1 > 0$ and there is a $k_1 \in L^1([0, b]; \mathbb{R})$ then

$$\sup_{\|x\|_C \le K_1} \| \mathcal{F}(v,x) \| \le \alpha_{k_1}(v) \text{ and } \liminf_{k_1 \to \infty} \int_0^b \frac{\alpha_{k_1}}{k_1} = \sigma < \infty, \forall v \in I.$$

(H7)
$$\sigma + M_a \liminf_{v \to \infty} \frac{\Omega(r)}{r} \int_0^b m_\phi(s) ds < 1$$

Now we define the following operators as follows:

$$(\mathcal{S}z)(v) = R_1(v) \left[D\left(0, \varphi(0) + g(z)(0)\right) \right] + \mathcal{F}(v, z_v)$$
$$(\mathcal{K}z)(v) = \int_0^v R_1(v - s)\phi\left(s, z_s, \int_0^s h(s, \tau, z_\tau)d\tau\right) ds$$

Then z is a mild solution of 3.21 and 3.22 if and only if z is a fixed point of $\mathcal{K} + \mathcal{S}$. Clearly, the linear operator \mathcal{K} is continuous on C([0, b], F) into itself.

Lemma 3.3.3. [21] The linear operator S is a strict contraction.

Proof. Let $x, y \in C([0, b], F)$ and $v \in [0, b]$, we have

$$\| (\mathcal{S}x)(v) - (\mathcal{S}y)(v) \| \le \| \mathcal{F}(v, x_v) - \mathcal{F}(v, y_v) \| \le k \| x_v - y_v \| = k \| x - y \|.$$

Then

$$\parallel \mathcal{S}x - \mathcal{S}y \parallel \leq k \parallel x - y \parallel$$

This implies that \mathcal{S} is a contraction.

Lemma 3.3.4. [21] There is r > 0, such that $z = Sz + K\omega, \omega \in B_r$ implies that $z \in B_r$. Where $B_r = \{z \in C([0, b], F) : || z ||_{\infty} \leq r\}$.

Proof. We prove this by the contradiction method. Suppose r > 0 and $z \in C([0, b], F)$ and $\omega \in B_r$, then $z = Sz + \mathcal{K}\omega$ and $z \notin B_r$. Then for any $v \in [0, b]$, we have

$$\| (\mathcal{S}z)(v) + (\mathcal{K}\omega)(v) \| = \| \mathcal{F}(v, z_v) + R_1(v) \left[D(0, \varphi(0) + g(z)(0)) \right] \| \\ + \| \int_0^v R_1(v - s)\phi \left(s, z_s, \int_0^s h(s, \tau, z_\tau) d\tau \right) ds \| \\ \leq \| \mathcal{F}(v, z_v) \| + M_a \| D(0, \varphi(0) + g(z)(0)) \| \\ + M_a \int_0^b m_\phi(s)\Omega \left[\| z_s \| + \int_0^s m_h(\tau)\Omega_h(\| z_\tau \|) d\tau \right] ds$$

$$r < \parallel z \parallel_{\infty} \le M_a \parallel D(0, \varphi(0) + g(z)(0)) \parallel + \alpha_r(v) + M_a \int_0^b m_\phi(s) \Omega(r) ds.$$

Dividing r on both sides, we have

$$1 \le \frac{M_a}{r} \| D(0,\varphi(0) + g(z)(0)) \| + \frac{\alpha_r(v)}{r} + \frac{M_a}{r} \Omega(r) \int_0^b m_\phi(s) ds.$$

This implies that,

$$1 \le \sigma + M_a \liminf_{r \longrightarrow \infty} \frac{\Omega(r)}{r} \int_0^b m_\phi(s) ds,$$

which contradicts (H7), hence $z \in B_{r_0}$.

Lemma 3.3.5. [21] Let M be a bounded subset of C([0,b],F) with $\psi_{\infty}(M) > 0$, there is an integer n, such that

$$\psi_{\infty}\left(\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\right) < \psi_{\infty}(M).$$

Proof. For $M \subseteq C([0, b], F)$ is bounded and $\psi_{\infty} > 0$, we have

$$\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)(v) = \{z(v), z \in \mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\}$$
$$\subseteq \{z(v) - \mathcal{S}z(v), z \in \mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\}$$
$$+ \{\mathcal{S}z(v), z \in \mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\}.$$

By using properties of Hausdorff measure of noncompactness

$$\psi\left(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)(v)\right) \leq \psi(\mathcal{K}(M)(v)) + k\psi\left(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)(v)\right)$$
(3.24)
$$\psi\left(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)(v)\right) \leq \frac{1}{1-k}\psi(\mathcal{K}(M)(v)).$$

Let $|| z || = \sup_{-r < v < 0} z(v)$ and $\int_0^v h(v, \tau, z_\tau) d\tau \in M$ be integrable. There is a function $C(v) \in L^1([0,b],\mathbb{R})$, then bringing Theorem 3.3.2, we have

$$\psi(\mathcal{K}(M)(v)) \le \psi(\mathcal{K}z(v)) \le \psi\left(\int_0^v R_1(v-s)\phi\left(s, z_s, \int_0^s h(s, \tau, z_\tau)d\tau\right)ds\right)$$
$$\psi(\mathcal{K}(M)(v)) \le 2M_a \int_0^v C(s)\psi(z(s))ds \le 2M_a\psi_\infty(M) \int_0^v C(s)ds.$$

Taking into account the density of $C([0,b],\mathbb{R})$ in $L_1([0,b],\mathbb{R})$. For any $\delta < \frac{1-k}{2M_a}$, there

3.3. Results on neutral partial integrodifferential equations with nonlocal conditions

is a function $\mu \in C([0, b], \mathbb{R})$ with $\int_0^b |C(s) - \mu(s)| ds < \delta$. Equivalently

$$\psi(\mathcal{K}(M)(v)) \le 2M_a \psi_{\infty}(M) \left[\int_0^b |C(s) - \mu(s)| \, ds + \int_0^b |\mu(s)| \, ds \right]$$
$$\le 2M_a \psi_{\infty}(M) [\delta + \tau v],$$

where $\tau = \sup_{0 \le s \le b} |h(s)|$. Hence, $\psi(\mathcal{K}(M)(v)) \le (2M_a\delta + 2M_a\tau(v))\psi_{\infty}(M)$. Using Equation 3.27, we have

$$\psi(\mathcal{K}(M)(v)) \le (\alpha + \beta v)\psi_{\infty}(M), \tag{3.25}$$

where $\alpha = \frac{2M_a\delta}{1-k}$ and $\beta = \frac{2M_a\tau}{1-k}$. Furthermore,

$$\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M) \subseteq \left\{ \mathcal{K}\omega(v), \omega \in \overline{co} \left(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M) \cup \{0\} \right) \right\} \\ + \left\{ \mathcal{S}z(v), z \in \mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M) \right\}.$$

This implies that

$$\psi\left(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\cup\{0\}\right) \leq \psi\left(\mathcal{K}(\overline{co}\left(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\cup\{0\}\right))(v)\right) + k\psi\left(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\right).$$

$$\psi\left(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\cup\{0\}\right) \leq \frac{1}{1-k}\psi\left(\mathcal{K}(\overline{co}\left(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\cup\{0\}\right))(v)\right). \quad (3.26)$$

Using Lemma 3.3.1, there is $\sup_{-r < v < 0} \omega(v)$, $\int_0^v h(v, \tau, z_\tau) d\tau \in F$ and $\omega(v) \subseteq \overline{co} \left(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S}, M) \cup \{0\} \right)$, which implies that

$$\begin{split} \psi\bigg(\mathcal{K}(\overline{co}\bigg(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\cup\{0\}\bigg))(v)\bigg) &\leq \psi\bigg(\int_0^v R_1(v-s)\phi\bigg(s,\omega_s,\int_0^s h(s,\tau,z_\tau)d\tau\bigg)\bigg)\\ &\leq 2M_a \int_0^v C(s)\psi(\overline{co}\bigg(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\cup\{0\}\bigg))(s)\bigg)ds\\ &\leq 2M_a \int_0^v C(s)\psi\bigg(\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)(s)\bigg)ds. \end{split}$$

$$(3.27)$$

3.3. Results on neutral partial integrodifferential equations with nonlocal conditions

Using 3.25 and 3.27 in 3.26, we have

$$\begin{split} \psi\bigg(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)(v)\bigg) &\leq \frac{2(M_a)}{1-k} \int_0^v [\|C(s)-\mu(s)\| + \|\mu(s)\|](\alpha+\beta s)\psi_{\infty}(M)ds\\ &\leq \frac{2(M_a)}{1-k} \bigg[(\alpha+\beta v) \int_0^v \|C(s)-\mu(s)\| ds + \tau(\alpha v + \beta \frac{v^2}{2})\bigg]\psi_{\infty}(M)\\ &\leq \bigg[\alpha^2 + 2\alpha\beta v + \frac{(\beta v)^2}{2}\bigg]\psi_{\infty}(M). \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\psi\left(\mathcal{F}^{(2,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)(v)\right) \leq \left[\alpha^2 + 2\alpha\beta v + \frac{(\beta v)^2}{2}\right]\psi_{\infty}(M)$$

Using induction,

$$\psi\left(\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)(v)\right) \leq \left[\alpha^n + C_n^1 \alpha^{n-1} \beta v + C_n^2 \alpha^{n-2} \frac{(\beta v)^2}{2!} + \dots + \frac{(\beta v)^n}{n!}\right] \psi_{\infty}(M).$$

Accordingly,

$$\psi_{\infty}\left(\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\right) \leq \left[\alpha^{n} + C_{n}^{1}\alpha^{n-1}\beta b + C_{n}^{2}\alpha^{n-2}\frac{(\beta b)^{2}}{2!} + \dots + \frac{(\beta b)^{n}}{n!}\right]\psi_{\infty}(M).$$

Since $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $\beta b > 0$, then from Lemma ?? there is $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, and we have

$$S_{n_0} = \left[\alpha^{n_0} + C_{n_0}^1 \alpha^{n_0 - 1} \beta b + C_{n_0}^2 \alpha^{n_0 - 2} \frac{(\beta b)^2}{2!} + \dots + \frac{(\beta b)^{n_0}}{n_0!}\right] < 1,$$

then

$$\psi_{\infty}\left(\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)\right) < \psi_{\infty}(M).$$

Lemma 3.3.6. [21] Let M be a bounded subset of C([0,b], F). If $\mathcal{K}(M)$ is equicontinuous, then $\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},M)$ is also equicontinuous for n > 0.

Proof. Let $z \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S}, M)$ and $v \in M$, which implies $z = \mathcal{S}z + \mathcal{K}w$. For $v, v_1 \in [0, b]$ such that

$$\| z(v) - z(v_1) \|_F \le \| Sz(v) - Sz(v_1) \|_F + \| \mathcal{K}w(v) - \mathcal{K}w(v_1) \|_F$$

$$= \| (R_1(v) - R_1(v_1))[\mathcal{D}(0,\varphi(0) + g(z)(0))] \|_F$$

$$+ \| \mathcal{F}(v, z_v) - \mathcal{F}(v_1, z_{v_1}) \|$$

$$+ \mathcal{K}(|v - v_1| + \| z(v) - z(v_1) \|_F) + \| \mathcal{K}w(v) - \mathcal{K}w(v_1) \|_F .$$

Consequently

$$\| z(v) - z(v_1) \|$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{1-k} \bigg(\| \mathcal{K}w(v) - \mathcal{K}w(v_1) \|_F + \| (R_1(v) - R_1(v_1))[\mathcal{D}(0,\varphi(0) + g(z)(0))] \|_F \bigg)$$

$$+ \frac{k}{1-k} |v - v_1|.$$

Hence, $|| z(v) - z(v_1) ||_F \to 0$ as $v \to v_1$ and $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S}, M)$ is equicontinuous. By Lemma 3.3.2, $\mathcal{F}^{(1,0)}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S}, M) = \overline{co}(\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S}, M) \cup \{0\})$ is equicontinuous. Using induction, $\mathcal{F}^{(n,0)}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S}, M)$ is equicontinuous $\forall n \ge 1$. Now in this position, we give the existence result for this work.

Theorem 3.3.3. [21] Suppose that (H1) - (H7) hold. Then Equations 3.21 and 3.22 have at least one mild solution for [-r, b].

Proof. For $C \subset B_r$ is a countable set, then $\overline{C} = \mathcal{F}^{(n_0,0)}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{S}, C)$. By Lemma 3.3.5,

$$\psi_{\infty}(C) = 0 \Rightarrow \mathcal{K}(C) \text{ is compact.}$$

By Lemma 3.3.6, $\mathcal{F}^{(n_0,x_0)}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{S},C)$ is equicontinuous and by Lemma ??,

$$\psi_C(C) = \psi_\infty(C) = 0,$$

which implies that C is relatively compact. From Theorem ?? and Lemmas 3.3.3 and 3.3.4, we have S + K, which have a fixed point in B_r . Hence systems 3.21 and 3.22 have mild solutions for [-r, b].

3.3.2 Example

[21] Consider the following neutral partial integrodifferential equation of the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}[p(s, z(y, t - r))] = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}[p(s, z(y, t - r))] + \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(s-t)}p(s, z(y, s - r))ds
+ H\left(t, z(y, t - r), \int_{0}^{t} k(t, s, w(x, y - r))ds\right)
for $y \in [0, \pi], \quad t \in I = [0, b], \quad z(0, t) = z(\pi, t) = 0, \quad t \ge 0,
z_{0}(y) = \varphi(t, y) + \int_{0}^{b} m(s)\log(1 + |z(s)(y)|)ds; \quad t \in [-r, 0], y \in [0, \pi],$
(3.28)$$

where φ is continuous.

Let $h(v, s, z_s) = k(t, s, w(x, y - r)), 0 \le y \le \pi$ and $D(t, z_t) = p(s, z(y, t - r))$. Take $F = L^2[0, \pi]$ and define $A: F \to F$ as Aw = w' with domain

 $D(A) = \{ w \in F : W \text{ is absolutely continuous } w' \in F, w(y) = w(0) = 0 \}.$

It is clear that A is an infinitesimal generator of semigroup T(t) defined by T(t)w(s) = w(t+s), for each $w \in F$. Thus, $[T(t)]_{t\geq 0}$ is not compact in F and $\beta(T(t)D) \leq \beta(D)$ where β is the Hausdorff measure of noncompactness and $\sup_{t\in I} ||T(t)|| \leq 1$.

Next, to assume the following, $g: C([0,b];F) \to F$ is a continuous function defined by $g(z)(y) = \int_0^b m(s) \log(1 + z(s)(y)) ds, z \in C([0,b];F)$. Moreover, for any $v \ge 0$ and $y \in F$, we have

$$|| H(v)(y) ||_F \le b(t) || y || \quad and || \frac{d}{dt} H(v)y ||_F \le b(t) || y ||.$$

We could see that the above system admits a resolvent operator. Further, the functions H and k satisfy all our assumptions. Finally, the above said partial differential system 3.28 has a mild solution of [-r, b].

Conclusion

In this work, we present the Mönch-Krasnoselski fixed point theorem in Banach spaces and some applications of this theorem to prove the existence of solutions to nonlinear problems. We also give examples to illustrate the obtained results. On the other hand, we use the technique of noncompactness measures which is an important tool in nonlinear analysis especially in theory of condensing operators. We can extended those results for another nonlinear problems in more general locally convex spaces.

Bibliography

- [1] F.Nier, D.Iftimie, *Introduction a la topologie licence de mathématiques* université de Rennes 1.
- [2] E.Matheron, Topologie, analyse fonctionnelle notes de cours. Université d'Artois ·
 LML Laboratoire de Mathématiques de Lens.
- [3] M.H.Mortad, An operator theory problem Book, World scientific publishing company 2018
- [4] B.K. Driver, *Analysis tools with applications*, Spin springer's internal project number, if known, June 9, 2003.
- [5] J.Schmets, Analyse mathematique introduction aux espaces fonctionnels notes du cours de la seconde candidature en sciences mathématiques ou en sciences physiques Universite de Liege Faculté des Sciences Institut de Mathématique 2004–2005.
- [6] Dimitri P. Bertsekas, *Convex optimization theory*, Massachusetts institute of technology.
- [7] L.N.Kalantan, Introduction to general topology, 2002.
- [8] T.Leinster, General topology, 2014-15.
- [9] E.Kreyszig, Introductory functional analysis with applications university of Windsor Wiley classics library edition published 1989.
- [10] J.Banaś, M.Mursaleen, Sequence spaces and measures of noncompactness with applications to differential and integral equations. Springer, New Delhi, 2014.

- [11] R.Bharadwaj, Fixed point theorems Thesis submitted for the award of the degree of doctor of philosophy in applied mathematics department of applied mathematics faculty of engineering and technology Aligarh muslim university Aligarh (India) 2000.
- [12] V.Pata, Fixed point theorems and applications dipartimento di matematica "F. Brioschi" politecnico di Milano vittorino.pata@polimi.it.
- [13] P.Kumlin, A note on Fixed Point theory mathematics Chalmers and GU TMA 401/MAN 670 functional analysis 2003/2004.
- [14] T.A.Burton, A fixed point theorem of Krasnoselski department of mathematics southern Illinois university Carbondale, IL 62901.
- [15] R.R.Akhmerov, M.I.Kamenskii, A.S.Potapov, A.E.Rodkina, B.N.Sadovskii, *Measures of noncompactness and condensing operators* translated from the Russian by A. lacob 1992 Birkhäuser verlag.
- [16] A.Aghajani, J.Banaś, N.Sabzali, Some generalizations of Darbo fixed point theorem and applications. Bull. Belg. Math. Soc. Simon Stevin 20 (2013), no. 2, 345–358.
- [17] J.M.Ayerbe Toledano, T. Dominguez Benavides, G.Lope Acedo, Measures of noncompactness in metric fixed point theory, operator theory advances and applications Vol. 99 I.Gohberg.
- [18] S.Szufla, On the application of measure of noncompactness to existence theorems, *Rendiconti del seminario matematico della università di Padova*, tome 75 (1986), p. 1-14.
- [19] K.Ezzinbi, S.Ghnimi, M.A.Taoudi, New Monch-Krasnosel'skii type fixed point theorems applied to solve neutral partial integrodifferential equations without compactness. J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 22 (2020), no. 3, Paper No. 73, 21 pp.
- [20] J.Banaś, D.O'Regan, On existence and local attractivity of solutions of a quadratic Volterra integral equation of fractional order. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 345 (2008), 573–582.
- [21] C.Ravichandran, K.Munusamy, K.S.Nisar, N.Valliammal, Results on neutral partial integrodifferential equations using Monch–Krasnosel'Skii fixed point theorem with nonlocal conditions. *Fractal Fract.* 2022, 6, 75. https://doi.org/10.3390/ fractalfract6020075.

- [22] D.O'Regan, R.Precup, Theorems of Leray-Schauder type and applications, department of mathematics national university of Ireland galway, Ireland and department of mathematics 'Babeş-Bolyai" university cluj, Romania, gordon and breach science publishers.
- [23] E. Zeidler, Nonlinear Functionnal Analysis of Epidemics, of Epidemics, World Scientific Publishing, Co. Pte. Ltd. 2009.